

THE HUMAN COST OF ILLICIT TRADE: EXPOSING DEMAND FOR FORCED LABOR IN THE DARK CORNERS OF THE ECONOMY

FOR MORE INFORMATION

This report, along with an Executive Summary, is available online in PDF format. Visit www.tracit.org/publications

MEDIA

All media inquiries should be directed to Cindy Braddon, Head of Communications and Public Policy, (Cindy.Braddon@TRACIT.org)

SOCIAL MEDIA

LinkedIn: www.linkedin.com/company/tracitorg Twitter: @TRACIT_org Instagram: @TRACIT_org

USE

The user is allowed to reproduce, distribute, adapt, translate and publicly perform this publication, including for commercial purposes, without explicit permission, provided that the content is accompanied by an acknowledgement that TRACIT is the source and that it is clearly indicated if changes were made to the original content.

Adaptation/translation/derivatives should not carry any official emblem or logo unless they have been approved and validated by TRACIT. Please contact us via info@TRACIT.org to obtain permission. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by TRACIT in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

LAYOUT

Graphic design and production by KAH Design Studios (www.kahdesignstudio.com) Cover image © 2021 iStockphoto LP.

ABOUT TRACIT

The Transnational Alliance to Combat Illicit Trade (TRACIT) is an independent, private sector initiative to drive change to mitigate the economic and social damages of illicit trade by strengthening government enforcement mechanisms and mobilizing businesses across industry sectors most impacted by illicit trade.

© TRACIT, 2021 Transnational Alliance to Combat Illicit Trade 209 W 29th Street #6295 New York, NY 10001 USA

www.TRACIT.org

THE HUMAN COST OF ILLICIT TRADE: EXPOSING DEMAND FOR FORCED LABOR IN THE DARK CORNERS OF THE ECONOMY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abbreviations and acronyms
Executive summary
I. Introduction
Focus on: forced labor occurring in illicit trade8
Establishing a baseline: exposing forced labor
A new approach: focus on supply chains9
Extending the investigation to illegal supply chain operations9
II. Establishing the parameters 10
What is meant by illicit trade? 10
The interplay between informal economies and illicit trade10
Are there limits to this work? 10
What is forced labor?
How does forced labor and illicit trade impact achievement of the SDGs and other human rights commitments?
III. Addressing forced labor in the context of illicit trade
Informal economy 14
Lawless nature of illicit trade includes human rights abuses
Poly-criminality15
IV. Observations of forced labor in illicit operations
A. Counterfeit and pirated goods17
B. Substandard and falsified medical products23
C. Illegal mining24
D. Illegal, Unregulated and Unreported Fishing25
E. Illicit tobacco products
F. Illegal pesticides
G. Illegal timber
V. Conclusions
Findings
VI. Recommendations
APPENDIX: Methodology
Notes

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Under the supervision of the Transnational Alliance to Combat Illicit Trade (TRACIT)'s Director-General Jeffrey Hardy, this publication was drafted by Dr. Ulrika Bonnier. Invaluable feedback and input was provided by Stefano Betti, Louis Bonnier, and Cindy Braddon.

TRACIT expresses its gratitude to its member companies for their support, valuable feedback and contributions of information, case studies and viewpoints on how illicit trade in their sectors intersects with forced labor, child labor and human trafficking.

TRACIT would like to thank the Government agencies, UN agencies, intergovernmental law enforcement organizations, investigative firms and trade associations that so generously shared their insights in conversations with TRACIT's Secretariat during the course of the drafting of this report.

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ASM	Artisanal and small-scale mining
CBP	US Customs and Border Protection
CITES	Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species
EU	European Union
EUIPO	European Union Intellectual Property Office
G20	Group of Twenty
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GLAA	UK's Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority
IGOs	Intergovernmental organizations
ILO	International Labour Organization
IOM	International Organization for Migration
IP	Intellectual Property
IPR	Intellectual Property Rights
IUFRO	International Union of Forest Research Organizations
IUU fishing	Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated fishing
NAS	Nuclei Antisofisticazioni e Sanità
OCGs	Organized Crime Groups
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PIPCU	City of London Police's Police Intellectual Property Crime Unit
PPE	Personal Protective Equipment
RFMO	Regional Fisheries Management Organization
SDGs	UN Sustainable Development Goals
TRACIT	Transnational Alliance to Combat Illicit Trade
UK	United Kingdom
UN	United Nations
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UNODC	United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime
US	United States
WRO	Withhold Release Order
WTO	World Trade Organization

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Amongst the worst crimes associated with illicit trade is the demand it creates for forced and child labor to carry out the tasks of making counterfeits, sewing fake logos on luxury apparel, or harvesting illegal fish. This report shows that women, children and men of all ages and race are forced to labor in illicit sectors, where they are abused by organized criminals pursuing clandestine profits. It concludes that ending these human rights abuses will only be possible by eradicating illicit trade and the demand for forced labor associated with it.

Progress on stopping forced labor has been painfully slow, despite a long list of international legal treaties aimed at eradicating it. For example, more than 90 years after the introduction of ILO's Forced Labour Convention, 25 million people continue to be coerced into a situation of forced labor, and the annual estimates of this crime are rising, not falling.

In an effort to address this situation, TRACIT has been investigating the incidence of forced labor* in a largely overlooked part of the global economy, namely illicit market activities. In these dark corners of the economy, illicit trade thrives in the presence of regulatory gaps, poor law enforcement, weak state institutions and where informal markets have been left unattended. Moreover, the poly-criminal nature of illicit traders reveals a tendency to practice more than one illegal activity, where counterfeiting, smuggling, money laundering and forced labor are often undertaken in tandem.

As a starting point, this report looks at the demand for forced labor from the perspective of the underlying economic activity that drives it. For example, recent work by the ILO, OECD, IOM and UNICEF** finds that global supply chains, encompassing all sorts of economic activity, can be a source of demand for forced labor. This study extends that methodology by examining supply chains for *illicit products and markets* and asks the following questions:

- If highly regulated legal supply chains can be infiltrated with forced labor, what can be said about unregulated, untaxed, unlicensed illicit sectors and trading markets?
- What is the impact of illicit economic activity including manufacturing, downstream product distribution, trademark infringing activities and, in limited cases, upstream harvesting of *illicit* products – on the demand for forced labor?

In sum, the findings indicate that forced labor is prevalent in illicit activity, global in nature, and significant enough that it cannot be ignored by governments seeking to eradicate this form of human rights abuse.

Methodology

Information presented in the report was gathered through a series of interviews conducted with a wide range of companies, trade associations, government agencies and intergovernmental organizations; conversations with private investigators; and extensive desk research.

To illustrate how *illicit* economic activities can be a source of demand for forced labor, it investigated the incidence of forced labor in eight sectors where illicit practices are regularly reported. These activities include: (i) counterfeiting of apparel, footwear and luxury goods; (ii) counterfeiting of electronics machinery and equipment; (iii) substandard and falsified medical products; (iv) illegal mining; (v) illegal,

* In this report, references to 'forced labor' will include instances of trafficking in persons for the purpose of forced labor.

^{**}ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour, forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. http://mne-guidelines.oecd.org/Ending-child-labour-forced-labour-and-humantrafficking-in-global-supply-chains.pdf

unregulated and unreported fishing; (vi) illicit tobacco products; (vii) illegal pesticides; and (viii) illegal timber.

Findings*

- Incidents of forced labor are reported all along the illicit supply chain – from upstream agriculture harvesting and minerals extraction to counterfeit manufacturing and street-corner retailing further downstream.
- There is a complete disregard by illicit traders for human rights and labor rights in their treatment of workers, where children, women and men alike are exploited and, at worst, viewed as disposable components of production.
- It is difficult but not impossible to identify and mitigate labor abuses and enforce human rights in illicit sectors that purposely conceal detection and where regulatory frameworks are weak and/or poorly enforced.
- While significant work is being done to mitigate illicit trade and even more is being done to address forced labor, the nexus between the two topics is a largely unexplored area where further attention, research and data collection is needed.
- Illicit trade and its associated demand for forced labor is holding back progress and pushing the achievement of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) relating to human rights further away.

Building on the findings from this report, and in order to encourage effective policy responses to forced labor in illicit trade, TRACIT calls for the following:**

 Governments must address the impact that illicit economic activities have on the demand for forced labor. This starts with accounting for the interconnected nature of forced labor and illicit trade so as to ensure that laws and regulations generally pertaining to preventing forced labor will specifically investigate and enforce against occurrences in illicit economic activity. This will require renewed political leadership to more effectively enforce existing international legal frameworks and to ensure the inclusion of anti-illicit trade policies in national plans to combat forced labor. Operationally, governments will need to strengthen inter-agency and interdepartmental cooperation at the national level, particularly by improving law enforcement capacities. Increased coordination across agencies responsible for law enforcement, labor, health, economy, security, finance, border control and trade will be critical for addressing the intersection between forced labor and illicit trade.

- 2. Governments must actively gather more and better data on the incidence of forced labor in illicit operations to improve the evidence-base for national and international policy-making and standard setting. Governments must also strengthen investigative techniques to address human rights abuses in illicit trade and dismantle the organized criminal networks behind illicit trade.
 - Since data is limited, and governments have not yet been successful in closing this gap, additional data collected in the field is needed to improve the understanding of how illicit supply networks operate, and how they recruit, use and abuse their labor force.
 - Governments should support and build upon private sector initiatives – such as that undertaken by TRACIT*** – to collect intelligence from private sector investigations, raids, seizures and other measures along illicit supply chains operating in parallel to their legal equivalents.

* For the full set of findings, see the Conclusions section of this report.

** For the full set of recommendations, see the Recommendations section of this report.

*** For more information on TRACIT's efforts to collect data on human rights abuses in counterfeit operations, see Appendix.

- Game-changing technological innovations that can improve discovery and traceability of illicitly sourced product inputs need to be catalyzed. A predictive model that red flags sectors and regions at risk of labor abuse in illicit trade needs to be developed and built with the goal of strengthening law enforcement's ability to detect, disrupt and dismantle these networks.
- 3. Governments should swiftly implement standing measures to stop illicit trade, thereby removing any associated demand for forced labor. Some of these recommendations include:*
 - Focus law enforcement on policing illicit trade.
 - Strengthen deterrent criminal penalties.
 - Strengthen the customs environment and border control.
 - Tighten controls on money laundering and corruption.
 - Strengthen Intellectual Property Rights enforcement.

These measures can be more effective when governments appoint an Interagency Anti-Illicit Trade Coordinator to facilitate the exchange of intelligence and resources across law enforcement, customs, health and trade agencies, and to bring in private sector expertise through public-private partnerships.

Looking forward

Given the global priority on upholding human rights, it is remarkable that forced labor persists – and at such significant levels. But the evidence is abundant and cannot be ignored.

The purpose of this report is to improve the understanding of where and how forced labor is abused in the operations of illicit supply networks. The objective is to strengthen the ability to detect, disrupt, and dismantle illicit operations and, as a result of that, reduce the associated demand for forced labor.

Addressing the threat of illicit trade on workers' rights will require renewed political will of government officials at all levels to prioritize the problem, collect more evidence and data, actively pursue solutions, and invest in enforcement measures. This study provides a first step, and it is hoped that this work will serve as a roadmap to help policy makers identify areas that merit greater attention and to formulate effective strategies to address the serious threats posed by illicit trade.

* For a full delineation of TRACIT's global and regional policy recommendations, visit https://www.tracit.org/publications.html

I. INTRODUCTION

More than 90 years after the adoption of the International Labour Organization's Forced Labour Convention, 25 million people continue to be trapped in a situation of forced labor.1 Even more troubling is that despite renewed global prioritization of the problem under two of the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals' (SDGs) targets for 2030,² the annual estimates of forced labor are rising, not falling. Among those sobering indicators is the June 2021 International Labour Organization (ILO) report that "global progress against child labour has stalled for the first time since [they] began producing global estimates two decades ago," and that "the COVID-19 crisis is likely to push millions more children into child labour."3

Even in countries where existing legal frameworks are generally considered sufficient, progress can fall short for myriad limitations in authority, accountability, investment, data, and coordination across responsible government agencies.⁴ A lack of thinking outside established parameters can also contribute to the obstinance of the problem, such as a failure to investigate many of the financial sector's reports on suspicious activity linked to trafficking, including the illicit use of the financial system.⁵

It stands to reason that where governments remain ineffective in tackling forced labor, more resources and coordination are needed, and more effective measures must be applied to address the complexity of the problem. But even before governments can allocate resources and crack down on the underlying criminal networks, it is vitally important to gain a more precise understanding of how and where human rights abuses occur. Accordingly, this report addresses the problem of forced labor, child labor and human trafficking for the purpose of forced labor exploitation. It investigates them at their root cause, namely the underlying commercial activity that can create demand for these labor abuses. The report takes as its starting point an original approach put forward by the ILO, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the International Organization for Migration (IOM) and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)⁶ to focus on where forced labor might occur in global supply chains.

This report extends this methodology to investigate the occurrence of forced labor in the supply chains for *illicit products and markets*. If highly regulated commercial supply chains can be infiltrated with forced labor, then it stands to reason that unregulated, untaxed unlicensed illicit trading markets would be equally – if not more – vulnerable. Consequently, to not investigate the impact of *illicit* economic activity as a source of demand for forced labor would be an oversight.

It is hoped that this report will improve the understanding of where and how forced labor is abused in the operations of illicit supply networks. The objective is to strengthen governments' ability to detect, disrupt, and dismantle illicit operations and, as a result, reduce the demand for forced labor. If human rights objectives are to be achieved, illicit operations and their demand for forced labor must be forcefully addressed.

Focus on: forced labor occurring in illicit trade

To shed light on the problem, this report delineates examples of forced labor used explicitly for illicit operations, such as the manufacture or trade of counterfeit apparel, pharmaceuticals and pesticides, or cross-border smuggling of illicit tobacco.

While all forms of forced labor are intrinsically illegal, this report focuses exclusively on where forced labor occurs in illicit economic activity. This activity can include manufacturing, downstream product distribution, trademark infringing activities and, in limited cases, upstream harvesting of illicit product.

Specifically, the report investigates the incidence of forced labor in eight sectors where illicit activity is regularly reported. These activities include: (i) counterfeiting of apparel, footwear and luxury goods; (ii) counterfeiting of electronics machinery and equipment; (iii) substandard and falsified medical products; (iv) illegal mining; (v) illegal, unregulated and unreported fishing; (vi) illicit tobacco products; (vii) illegal pesticides; and (viii) illegal timber.

As a result of interviews conducted with a wide range of companies, trade associations, government agencies, intergovernmental organizations, extensive desk research and conversations with investigators, this study has expanded the understanding of how organized criminals are exploiting labor and has managed to paint a picture of the intersection between forced labor/child labor/human trafficking and multiple forms of illicit trade.

Discussions with the private sector have revealed that forced labor is being recruited for manufacturing and downstream distribution of illicit products. Moreover, the lives of forced laborers can be put at risk in some manufacturing applications and, in the case of illicit pesticides, forced laborers in the agricultural sector are also exposed to these toxic, illicit products. What stands out is a situation of complete disregard for workers' basic rights, where children, women and men alike are exploited and, at worst, viewed as a disposable component of production. Similarly, interviews with governmental entities have highlighted the difficulties faced by law enforcement agencies in upholding human rights and mitigating labor abuses in illicit sectors that purposely conceal detection and where it is challenging to get convictions. In some cases, the poly-criminal nature of illicit trade means that there are multiple regulations pertaining to the different aspects of the illicit criminal activity – and human rights and labor rights violations are not the areas that are most likely to result in cases that hold up in court.

In all cases, however, the inescapable finding is that the use of forced labor in illicit operations remains largely unexplored and undocumented. Further research and data collection is needed to shed light on the full extent of this phenomenon.

Establishing a baseline: exposing forced labor

Efforts over the last century to understand and report on the problem have typically been conducted on a country-by-country basis. One example is the UNODC's Global Report on Trafficking in Persons that provides an overview of patterns and flows of trafficking in persons at global, regional and national levels. Another example is the annual Trafficking in Persons Report by the US Department of State, which identifies and analyzes the occurrences of trafficking for the purposes of forced labor, sexual exploitation, domestic servitude and organ removal. Drawing upon evidence collected by US embassies abroad, local government officials, nongovernmental organizations, news articles and research trips, the report discloses forced labor on a country-by-country basis. Furthermore, it classifies a country into different tiers depending on how that government's efforts to combat trafficking measure up against the minimum standards established in the US Trafficking Victims Protection Act. Since its inception in 2001, starting with assessments of 82 countries, the Report has expanded to 188 countries in 2020.

Although the US *Trafficking in Persons Report* has emerged as an extremely valuable tool, its reliance on law enforcement data collected on the

number of prosecutions, convictions and victims identified runs the risk to overlook the vast number of trafficking or forced labor cases that may never be reported.

A new approach: focus on supply chains

Reflecting the need to dissect the occurrences of forced labor more deeply than through country reports, some innovative thinking has recently been promoted by ILO, OECD, IOM and UNICEF,⁷ who collectively undertook to estimate prevalence of forced labor in global supply chains. This approach differs from the country-focus in the *Trafficking in Persons Report* in that it investigates the problem from the perspective of the underlying commercial activity that might create demand for forced labor and the unique complexities of global supply chains that can hide abuse.

Reflecting an urgency from the highest levels of government, the *ILO et al* report responded to the Group of Twenty (G20) Labour and Employment Ministers' call for a joint report by international organizations and Alliance 8.7* on how to accelerate action to eliminate the worst forms of child labor, forced labor and modern slavery in global supply chains, including identifying high risk sectors.⁸

This call to action was then echoed by the Buenos Aires Declaration on Child Labour, Forced Labour and Youth Employment, which called for "research on child labour and forced labour and their root causes [...] pay[ing] particular attention to supply chains [...] and high risk sectors."⁹ By better understanding where forced labor occurs along supply chains, the *ILO et al* report submits that policy makers will be better able to fashion and target regulations and other enforcement efforts. Notably, there is a focus on formal supply chains, where forced labor data sets have been matched with national input-output tables, import tables, bilateral trade and other statistics.¹⁰

Extending the investigation to illegal supply chain operations

The *ILO et al* approach increases visibility on the incidence of forced labor in formal supply chains and sheds light on how this type of economic activity can create demand for forced labor.

Critically, the *ILO et al* report acknowledges that the informal economy is where the vast majority of forced labor occurs. If this is the case and given that illicit trade is categorically an aspect of the informal economy, then an equal amount of investigation must go into assessing the impact of illicit economic activity as a source of demand for forced labor.

Consequently, this report endeavors to investigate the incidence of forced labor in illicit activity occurring along supply chains for illicit products, i.e., where the product itself or the activity creating, harvesting, or selling the product is illegal. In so doing, it shows how the circumstances characterizing illicit economic activity are ideal for exploiting forced labor – and why the risk versus reward calculation tilts towards continued abuse.

* Alliance 8.7 is the global initiative against forced labor, modern slavery, human trafficking and child labor under SDG Target 8.7. Partnership is open to government institutions, international and regional organizations, workers' organizations, employer and business membership organizations, civil society organizations, academic institutions, media or journalist networks, and survivor networks.

What is meant by illicit trade?

Illicit trade can be understood as any practice or conduct prohibited by the law relating to the production, assembly, shipment, receipt, possession, distribution, sale or purchase of goods or services.

Illicit trade is increasingly recognized as a major policy and regulatory challenge worldwide. It encompasses a wide spectrum of illegal activities, conducted both offline and online, including narcotics and arms trafficking, environmental and wildlife crime, robbery and resale of antiquities and cultural artifacts. On the commercial side, it undermines a very wide range of industries: pharmaceuticals, consumer goods, tobacco, alcohol, entertainment content, petroleum products, fishing, forestry, agri-foods, precious metals and gemstones, pesticides and thousands of products vulnerable to trademark counterfeiting and copyright piracy.

In some cases, goods involved in illicit trade operations may be intrinsically legal (e.g., genuine tobacco products and alcoholic beverages), but they are traded in contravention of tax laws and/or health, safety, and security regulations. By contrast, other goods may be intrinsically illegal. This is the case, for example, of the trade in endangered wildlife species, counterfeits that infringe on legitimate brands or fraudulent medicines produced with a different formula than advertised.

Illicit trade along with associated transnational criminal activities accounts for an estimated 8 to 15 percent of global GDP.¹¹ In some developing countries, the figures may be much higher. These magnitudes suggest that any comprehensive assessment of compliance with labor laws must investigate labor activities in the illicit economy.

The interplay between informal economies and illicit trade

Illicit trade is a subset of the informal economy, which broadly refers to those marketplaces where activities, enterprises, jobs and workers are not regulated or beyond the reach of the state. In an informal economy, the production and trade of goods and services may be partially or totally concealed to avoid payment of taxes or to escape labor market or product regulations. While not all informal activity is illicit, all illicit trade falls into the informal economy when it comprises activities that have market value and would add to tax revenue and GDP if they were recorded.

According to *ILO et al*, the "informal economy [is] where the vast majority of child labor, forced labor and human trafficking occurs."¹² It is thus critical to investigate the abuse of labor in the informal economy, all the more so since 60 percent of the world's employed population ages 15 and older spend at least part of their time in the informal sector.¹³ However, exactly because informal economies are beyond the reach of labor laws and most governments' inspection regimes, the lack of transparency makes it difficult to monitor and follow up on labor practices.¹⁴

Are there limits to this work?

The scope of this report is limited to forced labor occurring strictly in illicit activities.

For example, an assessment of labor use in legal fishing operations that is in compliance with fishing regulations is not included in this report, even if forced labor has been reported. These activities are already subject to oversight, and it is up to governments to either step up enforcement of local labors laws or to more fundamentally correct the underlying socio-economic failures that allow forced labor in formal economic activity.

Instead, staying on the fishing example, this report is interested in registering occurrences of forced labor used during acts of illegal, unregulated or unreported fishing, such as when illicit operators harvest fish beyond established boundaries, above quotas, or contravention of regional, national or international laws. Similarly, in cases where timber is illegally harvested, this report would include forced labor used in this context.

In cases where there are no legal restrictions in place on harvesting a raw material such as cotton, coffee, sugar or tobacco, the act of harvesting is not illegal, and the harvested product in itself is not illegal. Therefore, an assessment of labor use in for example cotton picking is not included in this report, even if forced labor has been reported.

Consequently, this report would only assess occurrences of forced labor if and after a legally harvested product (i.e., not sourced in contravention of any regional, national, or international laws regulating the harvesting of that particular raw material) is diverted to an illicit supply chain. It is from this point of diversion onwards that this report follows the illicit product and the occurrence of forced labor that goes into the manufacture, distribution or sale of finished products.

What is forced labor?

In 1930, the UN identified forced labor as a priority issue and later defined it under the *ILO Forced Labour Convention* as "all work or service which is exacted from any person under the threat of a penalty and for which the person has not offered himself or herself voluntarily." There are three central elements to what is defined as forced labor:

 Work or service – covering all types of work in any industry, sector or activity in both the formal and informal economy. The informal economy is of particular interest in this study, when zeroing in on organized criminals use of forced labor in their supply chains.

- 2. Threat of penalty referring to a wide range of penalties including penal sanctions and various forms of direct or indirect coercion, such as physical violence, psychological threats, non-payment of wages, and a loss of rights or privileges (e.g., promotion, transfer, or access to new employment).¹⁵
- **3. Involuntariness** meaning that the person in question did not take up the job based on free and informed consent and is not free to leave at any time.

The Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, introduces the notion of forced labor into the trafficking in persons space:

"the recruitment, transportation, transfer, harbouring or receipt of persons, by means of the threat or use of force or other forms of coercion, of abduction, of fraud, of deception, of the abuse of power or of a position of vulnerability or of the giving or receiving of payments or benefits to achieve the consent of a person having control over another person, for the purpose of exploitation."

The purposes of exploitation that are covered by the Protocol include but are not limited to:

- the exploitation of the prostitution of others or other forms of sexual exploitation;
- forced labor or services;
- slavery or practices similar to slavery;
- servitude; and
- · removal of organs.

While not all trafficking is committed for the purpose of forced labor – with organ trafficking being one example of this – forced labor exploitation is one of the purposes of trafficking in persons that is included in the definition set forth in the *Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children.* On the ground, the manifestations of forced labor vary widely across countries, sectors, and workplaces, and even across the circumstances and backgrounds of the people that are subject to the abuse. Determining whether a type of labor can be defined as 'forced' is, therefore, not always easy. Nonetheless, there are a number of conventional methods for detecting it, starting with a set of observable characteristics of forced labor. For example, if workers are not in possession of their passports or if guards are stationed in a factory to monitor workers' movements, then this could indicate that they are not there voluntarily or are not free to leave. If workers are spoken for when addressed directly or do not have employment contracts specifying their rights, then these are indicators that they could have been coerced. If workers are without access to their pay or are paid wages as non-cash or in-kind, then this could indicate indentured service or create dependency on the employer under the 'threat of penalty'.

Where informal economic activity exists, it is more difficult for governments to inspect operations and enforce regulations. This lack of transparency creates more opportunities for human rights abuses such as forced labor.

How does forced labor and illicit trade impact achievement of the SDGs and other human rights commitments?

The UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) lay out an ambitious set of 17 goals to address the world's most acute economic, social and environmental challenges. They cover everything from poverty eradication and zero hunger to clean water, decent jobs and peace. Since coming into effect in January 2016, governments, private sector and civil society have rallied around the SDGs to guide policy, implement investment strategies and allocate funding. The key SDG targets related to forced labor are:16

- 5.2: eliminate all forms of violence against all women and girls in public and private spheres, including trafficking and sexual or other types of exploitation.
- 8.7: Take immediate action and effective measures to eradicate forced labor, end modern slavery and human trafficking and secure the prohibition and elimination of the worst forms of child labor, including recruitment and use of child soldiers, and by 2025 end child labor in all its forms.

Other important government commitments include those under the *UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights* that "apply to all States and to all business enterprises."¹⁷ The foundational principles state that "States must protect against human rights abuse within their territory and/or jurisdiction by third parties, including business enterprises."¹⁸

However, governments' commitments are of course not limited to the human rights space. As highlighted by the OECD, "effective action to counter illicit trade and support for governance frameworks to lower the incidence of such trade are key policy concerns for governments as they support the promotion of economic prosperity."¹⁹ Furthermore, tackling illicit trade is key if governments are to meet the SDGs.

In order to help governments and business better understand how their efforts to achieve sustainable development must account for the negative forces of illicit trade, a TRACIT study from 2019* mapped the 17 UN SDGs against the following sectors of illicit trade: agrifoods, alcohol, fisheries, forestry, petroleum, pharmaceuticals, precious metals and gemstones, pesticides, tobacco, wildlife and all forms of counterfeiting and piracy. These sectors were chosen because they participate significantly in international trade and are particularly vulnerable

* This report is available at: https://www.tracit.org/publications_illicit-trade-and-the-unsdgs.html

to illicit trade. Based on the research undertaken in the study, the socio-economic impacts of illicit trade are all quantifiably negative and present significant deterrence to achieving all 17 of the SDGs.

Taken together, this means that States have dual responsibilities for mitigating human rights abuses and fighting illicit trade. Without effectively combatting human rights abuses, governments will not meet the UN SDGs and live up to international commitments such as the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights. Similarly, achieving human rights objectives may actually not be possible without stopping illicit trade, as illicit trade makes the problem of forced labor worse, pushing the achievements of the goals and human rights commitments further away.

III. ADDRESSING FORCED LABOR IN THE CONTEXT OF ILLICIT TRADE

A number of circumstances that characterize illicit economic activity are ideal for exploiting forced labor. In short, illicit trade is a category of the unregulated, untaxed informal economy. It is lawless by nature and prospers where gaps in law enforcement are weak and vulnerable. Moreover, these lawless actors are increasingly poly-criminal in that their illicit trading activities are often accompanied by other crimes such as money laundering and human rights abuses.

Informal economy

As previously mentioned, while not all informal activity is illicit, all illicit trade falls into the informal economy when it comprises activities that have market value and would add to tax revenue and GDP if they were recorded.

Informal economic activity can typically be characterized as operating outside of regulatory controls, featuring menial work with little or no job stability or security for workers. Markets for forced labor are also commonly associated with "labor intensive, poorly-mechanized activities, requiring a low-skilled labor force."²⁰

These circumstances are similar to those commonly found in illicit operations, which are further characterized by serious safety and sanitary issues, where children are operating dangerous machinery without personal protective equipment, workers are sleeping in cramped quarters on filthy mattresses, there is a lack of adequate drinking water, and workers are prohibited from leaving their place of work or contact their families on the outside.

Lawless nature of illicit trade includes human rights abuses

Contrary to legal enterprises that operate in the open, and where transparency facilitates oversight of employee rights in the supply chain, illegal actors operate in the dark at the expense of those most vulnerable to abuse, including children, women, and migrant workers.

These criminal enterprises operate without regard to laws and regulations by sidestepping safety controls, contributing to environmental degradation, and engaging in IP theft, smuggling, fraud, and corruption. Their disregard for the law also includes abdication of legal frameworks governing employee rights. The European Commission captured this situation in pointing out that while "reputable companies that manufacture abroad respect [labor standards], dealers in fake goods don't have reputations to protect and can mistreat workers – even children, forced to work in sweatshops – as much as they like."²¹

This view is echoed by conclusions from UNODC that the illegal nature of counterfeiting can create labor conditions "far worse than those seen in legitimate companies",²² and instances such as threats of violence, exposure to hazardous materials, and deadly working conditions are much worse for workers in a clandestine setting, compared to "global companies whose supplychain practices are at least open to some degree of scrutiny."²³

Poly-criminality

Criminals often engage in more than one criminal activity to mitigate risks, reduce operational costs and increase profit margins. Europol reports that organized crime groups (OCGs) involved in trafficking illicit goods are the most polycriminal groups in the EU, and that they typically traffic more than one illicit commodity such as counterfeit goods or different types of illicit drugs.²⁴ They also engage in the associated crimes of money laundering and human rights abuses in the form of forced labor. A recent study by the UK Intellectual Property Office²⁵ shows that there are strong links between intellectual property crime (e.g., trademark counterfeiting and copyright piracy) and other forms of organized criminality. In presenting data collected over the last five years, the study included "Money Laundering" and "People Trafficking/Modern-day Slavery" among ten other crimes associated with intellectual property crimes. Figure 1 shows that while the reporting of money laundering as an associated crime has remained relatively flat, "People Trafficking/ Modern-day Slavery" have increased steadily and significantly since 2015.





Source: UK Intellectual Property Office & IP Crime Group. (2017). IP Crime and Enforcement: Report 2016/17. Newport: IP Crime Group. p. 10

In addition, various types of illicit products are often found together during raids or border inspections, indicating that a single criminal group will traffic multiple products using the same personnel, facilities, trade routes or supply networks. For example, officers of the Silesian Customs and Tax Office in Poland raided a warehouse and found both illicit tobacco and illicit alcohol on site.²⁶ In Slovakia, customs officials inspecting a truck at the border with Ukraine uncovered smuggled cigarettes, dried tobacco, and fake FILA-brand shoes and clothing.²⁷

These findings suggest that once the line has been crossed on what is legal versus illegal, then cutting corners and engaging in other associated crimes become common and, in some cases, necessary. In the case of money laundering, for an illicit trading enterprise to succeed, "it must be able to hide, move, and access the proceeds of its crimes [as] without usable profits, the criminal activity cannot continue."²⁸ Across all forms of illicit trade, annual proceeds are estimated at more than \$2 trillion globally.²⁹

As explained by *Allain et al.*³⁰, illicit traders play off the fears of child, migrant and forced workers to help reduce risks of exposure to law enforcement, and "employers that have control over workers through forced labour can leverage this control to reduce the risks of detection of their informal or illegal practices."³¹ This is because "forced labourers, unlike free workers, are less likely to inform authorities on the shady practices of their employers [since they] experience considerable vulnerability and this vulnerability often prevents workers from contacting authorities out of fear of reprisal, loss of work, further precariousness, or even deportation."³²

Human rights abuses, such as trafficking in persons for the purpose of forced labor, can be found throughout illicit trading sectors, and illicit traders seek forced labor for a variety of reasons, starting with the relatively lower cost – or no cost at all – of such labor, in terms of both compensation and benefits. As highlighted by the US Department of Homeland Security, "it is much cheaper to manufacture illicit goods because counterfeit and pirated goods are often produced [...] by workers who are often paid little—and sometimes nothing in the case of forced labor."³³ In practice, the large-scale, informal underground economy operates in parallel to the global economy, where it steals Intellectual Property, builds manufacturing plants to produce counterfeits, operates "sweatshops" to produce fake apparel and footwear, and exploits maritime shipping, parcel delivery, e-commerce platforms and other nodes of the global supply chain that serve the legal world.

Among these crimes is the use of forced labor in illicit operations. The following sections of this report highlight sector- or product-specific examples of forced labor across eight illicit activities, including counterfeiting of apparel, footwear and luxury goods; counterfeiting of electronics machinery and equipment; illegal mining; IUU fishing; illicit tobacco; illicit pharmaceuticals; illicit pesticides; and illegal timber. Based on the evidence collected, there is a focus on manufacturing of illicit goods, but the report also shows that forced labor can be used further downstream, such as in the distribution and sale of counterfeit goods.³⁴ While the types of abuse differ across industry, a commonality is the blatant disregard for human rights and labor rights. Workers are treated as disposable components of the manufacturing and sales of illicit products, with little or no regard for their safety or life.

A. Counterfeit and pirated goods

The global trade in counterfeit and pirated goods accounts for the largest economic value of all forms of illicit trade.³⁵ The OECD reports that counterfeiting and piracy in international trade alone has grown from US\$250 billion annually in 2007³⁶ to US\$ 509 billion in 2016, representing 3.3 percent of world trade, and up to 6.8 percent of EU imports from third countries.³⁷ 2019 numbers are at a similar level, with counterfeits representing an estimated 2.5 percent of world trade, and 5.8 percent of EU imports.³⁸ Examples of counterfeiting and piracy include apparel and footwear; luxury goods; personal electronic products; household and personal care products; pharmaceuticals and medical devices; vehicle spare parts; alcohol; tobacco; and copyright piracy of movies, television, music, live performances, computer software and video games.

This is a big business, with big demands for resources, transportation and labor. Over the years, considerable attention has been paid to the negative impacts of counterfeiting on consumer health and safety, such as faulty automobile brake pads or fake pharmaceuticals. However, consumers are not the only people harmed by counterfeits. There are significant human rights abuses associated with the manufacturing and sale of counterfeits.³⁹

Abuse of labor in the production and distribution of counterfeit and pirated goods is widespread. UNODC reports that:

"Migrants who have been smuggled into a country are coerced into selling counterfeit goods while irregular labour, including children, can be used in the production of counterfeit items."⁴⁰

UNODC goes on to argue that:

"Given the illegal nature of counterfeiting, labor conditions could be far worse than those seen in legitimate companies where, despite regulations, mistreatment can happen. Severe labor abuses in the supply chains of even some of the world's major brands have been well documented, with instances such as threats of violence, exposure to hazardous materials, and deadly working conditions all having been noted. If this can happen in global companies whose supply-chain practices are at least open to some degree of scrutiny, then the situation would be much worse for workers in a clandestine setting."⁴¹

At the national level, the US Office of the Intellectual Property Enforcement Coordinator highlights that:

"The behind-the-scenes production of counterfeit goods often involves human rights violations, including the use of child labor, forced labor, human trafficking, long hours and dangerous "sweatshop" working conditions, and payment of unlawfully low wages that do not cover living expenses".⁴²

ILO further reports that clandestine workshops which employ large numbers of illegal immigrants that have specialized in copying and pirating well-established brand names employ "labor practices that are contrary to the most rudimentary principles of respect for human rights at work."43 In some cases, identity papers of immigrant workers are confiscated and workers are housed in hazardous and unhealthy conditions.44 These practices have been confirmed by the UK's Intellectual Property Office's Asia Policy Head Huw Watkins, who reports that the criminals who engage in counterfeiting don't care for the rule of law and they "certainly don't care if they exploit individuals in the way they do business."45

In 2018, Northern Ireland's Department of Justice warned customers that "purchasing counterfeit goods may ultimately fund an organised crime group and the profits may be used to help finance other illegal activities such as drug dealing and human trafficking."⁴⁶ The Italian National Antimafia Bureau highlights the growing links between Chinese criminal organizations involved in the production and marketing of counterfeit goods and the Neapolitan Camorra, stating that Chinese immigrants are involved in the illegal immigration of their fellow citizens, who are then exploited in these illegal production and distribution structures in Italy.⁴⁷

"The organizations behind counterfeiting operations pay no taxes, obey no laws, support organized crime, contribute to official corruption, often employ child and illegal immigrant (and in some cases, slave) labor and generally have no social conscience (or fear of liability) when it comes to the dangers posed to consumers by the low quality, even dangerous, fake goods they inject into global trade."⁴⁸

- Intellectual property lawyer Edward J. Kelly

A1. Apparel, footwear and luxury goods

Counterfeit apparel, footwear and luxury goods are global, billion-dollar industries that employ more than 30 million people.⁴⁹ Despite the high quality of the finished product, parts of the supply chain for textiles can utilize relatively low-skilled labor. As explained above, forced labor tends to migrate to relatively low-skilled applications,⁵⁰ presenting a "natural fit" for counterfeiters to use forced labor and child labor to assemble fake versions of these goods.

As Lusher points out in his report on counterfeiting, the complexities of global supply chains challenge legal companies to control vulnerabilities such as forced labor, but when it comes to illicit traders, "there are no accountability checks at all on the conditions in which fakes are made."⁵¹ This include products which can pose serious health risks for consumers when counterfeiters use potentially harmful input materials or the human cost and suffering stemming from the use and abuse of forced laborers.⁵²

"Whether displayed on an online forum or at a stand on New York's Canal Street, the counterfeit label disguises two things: a fraudulently made product and the human rights violations that went into the making of that product."⁵³

- Angela Terese Timpone, Editor, Cardogo Public Law, Policy, and Ethics Journal

As evidenced in a speech by the publisher of Harper's Bazaar, the industry is aware of these vulnerabilities associated with illicit trade and warns consumers of the harms of purchasing counterfeits; "Most people don't know that by purchasing fakes, they are funding child labor, terrorism, and drug cartels" and that "[t]here is a direct link connecting laundered money to these criminal activities."⁵⁴



In Knock Off: *The Deadly Trade in Counterfeit Goods,* Philips further argues that:

"If you buy the real product, it may have been made by child labour, or in a sweatshop, but you can do something about it. For example, every legitimate Chinese product has to have the name of the factory and a phone number on it, so the factory can be inspected. If you know that a company exploits its workers, you can refuse to buy its products. [Conversely], if you buy a fake product, there's no inspection of the factories and no way for you to find out what goes on there. But here's a clue: a manufacturer who knowingly breaks the law to make the product and ship it, perhaps with dangerous design flaws, isn't likely voluntarily to raise working conditions for the staff employed."55



"Many counterfeit goods are made in developing countries by gangs that have no regard for their workers. Know that with every counterfeit you buy, you are helping to employ slaves who toil in horrific conditions. They receive little pay and work at the whim of the bosses. While some may be more humane, you don't know who treats their workers well and who doesn't. Safety is never a concern for the counterfeiter, because you can literally just go out and buy more workers if you need them. You can sleep knowing that the handbag in your closet has given someone forced into labor a few more hours of breath while they pleased the master."³⁶

- William Shepherd, Partner at Material Handling & Logistics

There are numerous examples where potential victims of forced labor have been identified in connection with counterfeiting apparel, footwear and luxury goods:

- In January 2021, the Police of São Paulo, Brazil, conducted a search and seizure in a property in the Belém region, after receiving reports that children were working and living in a clandestine sewing factory producing counterfeit Lacoste garments. During the seizure, the Police found 12 people, including children and family members, that working and living in the factory.⁵⁷
- In December 2020, the UK Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority (GLAA) found a counterfeit apparel factory that used exploitative practices and coerced workers to live at their workplace. GLAA director Daniel Scully said that, "where workers are being kept on premises, that's really not a great situation for anyone to be in," and that this particular environment is not one "where people should be overnight - it's not a residential place, it's full of paint, chemicals [and] screen-painting equipment." GLAA also found allegations of suppressed earnings, meaning workers were putting in more hours than the books showed, and that paid salaries were making it back to

the company, essentially being "clawed back from workers." $^{\scriptscriptstyle 58}$

- In October 2017, 31 Bolivian victims of trafficking in persons were found in a Chineserun counterfeit factory of fake Tommy Jeans t-shirts in Buenos Aires, Argentina. The factory owner, Park Hyo Wom, was detained by the police.⁵⁹
- In a 2016 case in the São Paulo Metropolitan Region of Brazil, Guillermo Rivas Quispe, a Bolivian citizen, was charged with the crime of forced labor after authorities found that 14 Bolivian workers in his counterfeit clothing factory were subjected to work hours that exceeded 15 hours per day, at below minimum wage, in an unhygienic, unhealthy and dangerous environment, which lacked sanitary facilities, an adequate place for meals and drinking water. Workers had their wages withheld and told investigators that they were afraid of Guillermo. In this counterfeit factory that primarily produced knock-off Quiksilver and Hurley clothes, one employee was almost beaten to death for raising the fact that he had not been paid for three months. Guillermo was sentenced by The Federal Court of Justice to 5 years in prison.60

- In December 2013, a fire in an Italian factory that was manufacturing counterfeit apparel resulted in the death of seven workers. The ensuing investigation revealed that they "had fourteen to sixteen hour workdays, no days off, and slept within the factory itself, which did not have any fire prevention or alarm systems."⁶¹
- Author Dana Thomas reported her observations after joining a police raid in a tenement in the Guangdong Province of China

 one of the global epicenters for production of counterfeits – where she witnessed "two dozen sad, tired, dirty children, ages eight to 14, making fake Dunhill, Versace, and Hugo Boss handbags on old, rusty sewing machines."⁶²
- Thomas also reported visiting a sweatshop in Thailand where she saw "six or seven little children, all under 10 years old, sitting on the floor assembling counterfeit leather handbags." She further reported a story told by an investigator who shared that, "the owners had broken the children's legs [...] because the children said they wanted to go outside and play."⁶3
- In 2019, reporters from Norwegian TV2 and a representative from investigative firm Cerberus IP gained access to a Turkish factory producing counterfeit Louis Vuitton handbags. When walking through the factory, they observed children manning the machinery.⁶⁴
- In October 2017, in Manchester, UK, police and immigration officers conducted a series of raids that yielded £2m in seized counterfeit versions of Adidas, Nike, Louis Vuitton and Rolex brands. In addition, the officers reported, "potential victims of slavery were identified and directed to support services to receive protection and rehabilitation."⁶⁵
- In 2013, three frightened, undocumented immigrants sewing fake Henry Lloyd, Adidas and Ralph Lauren logos onto about 6,000 polo shirts were found in a back room in Leicester, UK, being paid 70p a day and reportedly too terrified to say who was putting them to work.⁶⁶

Other examples of serious exploitative practices include:

- In December 2020, a probe into a counterfeit clothing company in Leicester, UK, found workers sleeping on mattresses in the factory. This triggered the investigation to look into allegations of suppressed earnings and evidence that money paid to workers was being extracted back to the company.⁶⁷
- In December 2017, following raids on 11 counterfeiting shops in Manchester, UK, law enforcement found evidence suggesting that forced labor was at play. Investigators reported modern slavery concerns, including arrangements for workers and how little they were paid, if they were paid at all.⁶⁸ The raids turned up three shipping containers "filled with seized fake clothing, handbags, trainers, perfumes and jewelry, with a total value in excess of £3m." There were also thousands of designer labels intended for workers to attach to the products.⁶⁹ Investigators feared that the work of attaching these labels to the unbranded fakes were done in conditions similar to a sweat shop in the developing world. Local news reported that "thousands of fake designer goods [...] were seized, including 2,000 bags and boxes of counterfeit branded goods in the name of Adidas, Chanel, Ugg, Michael Kors, GHD, Beats/Apple, Nike and Superdry" along with a significant amount of cash.70 Two large knives were discovered in the December raids, and one spotter "guardedly revealed recently that he was working to 'pay off debts."71

Forced labor is not only found in the manufacturing of counterfeit goods but also in downstream sales of these illicit products. For example, Europol reports that illegal immigrants – often from Africa or Asia – are "coerced by their facilitators to engage in street sales of counterfeits."⁷² In Argentina, manteros – street vendors selling counterfeit merchandise on blankets in the streets - are an example of the downstream use of forced labor. The City Attorney General's Office in Buenos Aires reports that manteros are not self-employed. Instead, these street vendors are run by criminal mafia style organizations that take over public spaces, profit from poverty, evade taxes, launder money, harm legal commerce, and use slave labor. The City also confirmed that these mafia organizations are linked to the smuggling of merchandise and raw materials.73 In August 2020, an investigation into a human trafficking network abusing Senegalese manteros in La Plata was launched. The vast majority of the Senegalese were undocumented and subjected to coercion, injuries and threats.74 It was reported that the Senegalese immigrants arrived in Argentina with the promise that they would work in hotels and restaurants. However, once they paid a large amount of money for transit into Argentina, the mafia organization withheld their passports in lieu of debt repayment.75

"Selling fake goods cuts across a huge number of other crime types – and that includes violence, drug dealing and modern slavery."⁷⁶

- Huw Watkins, former senior police detective, now head of Asia policy at the UK Government's Intellectual Property Office

As evidenced by the sheer number of cases gathered in counterfeit apparel, footwear and luxury goods, forced labor is a pervasive problem in both the manufacturing and sales of the fake versions of these consumer products. In the words of Detective Sergeant Kevin Ives of The Police Intellectual Property Crime Unit (PIPCU), run by the City of London Police, "this is not a victimless crime [and] behind each counterfeit item there is potentially a string of victims."⁷⁷

A2. Electronics machinery and equipment

According to the OECD, the fourth most commonly counterfeited and seized category of products by customs between 2014-19 was electronics machinery and equipment.⁷⁸ This category of goods includes – among other items – cellphones, batteries, domestic appliances, electric shavers, electronic cigarettes, solid-state storage devices, and other media for recording of for example sound.⁷⁹ In 2014-17, electrical machinery and electronics represented 35 percent of the global trade in fake goods, with an estimated value in 2016 of US\$ 138 billion.⁸⁰

Counterfeit electronics are often of sub-standard quality using unknown or harmful chemical/ material input components, such as counterfeit batteries or devices that can generate heat burns or electric shocks.⁸¹

In addition to significant risks to consumer health and safety, forced labor is used in the manufacturing and sales of fake personal electronics products.

- The OECD has found organized crime in the audiovisual sector linked to human trafficking, "where Chinese pirates force the people they smuggle into Europe to work as distributors of pirate products to pay off their transport costs".⁸² The UK government has also reported that mainland Chinese organized crime groups that are heavily involved in the distribution of counterfeit DVDs exploit illegal immigrants or asylum seekers to sell them on the streets in the UK.⁸³
- In 2015, following reports of possible counterfeiting activity, a raid in Brussels discovered an improvised production line for counterfeit smartphones. Europol and EUIPO's reporting of the case indicated that the people involved were being exploited, lived and worked in poor conditions onsite, and were in Belgium illegally with the use of false identity documents.⁸⁴

Copyright piracy of CDs falls into the same category of electronics machinery and equipment.

- In 2010, an investigation by the Harris County Sheriff's Office in Texas found a human smuggling operation, where the organization would pay the undocumented alien's smuggling fee from Mexico to the US and would then require them to pay off their smuggling debt by selling pirated CDs and DVDs in apartment complexes. According to the inditement, "the undocumented aliens were forced to live with the traffickers and if they did not pay their debts, they were assaulted, threatened with violence and intimidated [through] threatening phone calls to family members in Mexico."⁸⁵
- In 2008, over 400 Spanish police raided an organized piracy ring run by Chinese nationals in 10 different cities, arresting 32 persons. Seizures included over 162,000 recorded DVD-Rs and 506 burners, as well as 144,000 music CDs, and nearly 500,000 unrecorded discs. The organized piracy ring, run by gang leaders Zheng Rongliang and Lupeng Yang, were exploiting Chinese immigrant workers whom they illegally smuggled to Spain, "forcing them to pay off their travel debt under harsh conditions for a period of three to four years."⁸⁶

Taken together, counterfeit electronics and machinery is not a sector that is spared from forced labor. Forced laborers are abused by organized criminals in both the manufacturing and sale of illicit goods, with severe human rights consequences as a result.

B. Substandard and falsified medical products

Illicit trade in substandard and falsified medical products is an enormous global problem, with an estimated value of US\$ 4.4 billion.⁸⁷ In several African countries, falsified medicines account for between 30 and 60 percent of all medical products.⁸⁸ In the US, it has been estimated that one out of every hundred pharmaceuticals is counterfeit.⁸⁹

Since the onset of COVID-19, these figures have increased, with the falsification of COVID-19 related vaccines, therapeutics, and diagnostics in circulation. For example, Interpol reported that counterfeit facemasks, substandard hand sanitizers and unauthorized antiviral medication worth more than US\$ 14 million were seized and 121 arrests were made under their Operation Pangea XIII during 2020.⁹⁰ Similarly, the US Department of Homeland Security reported the seizure of more than 10 million counterfeit respirators.⁹¹



This situation has created significant opportunities for market, product and labor violations as illicit traders attempted to supply the world with fake products and remedies to COVID-19. For example, in the UK it was reported that "the fake masks are often made in unsterile sweatshops previously used to make phoney handbags or designer jeans."92 Similar to the organized criminals manufacturing counterfeit apparel and luxury goods, there is no incentive for illicit traders manufacturing counterfeit pharmaceuticals to respect human rights. There is no transparency into their operations, no labor inspections or other oversight into how the workers are treated, and no avenue for workers to enforce their rights. In other words, substandard and falsified medical products present high

probability scenarios for the use of forced labor, child labor and human trafficking.

• In March 2020, an investigation by the Indiana State Excise Police, US Department of Homeland Security and the Madison County Drug Task Force into the sale of fake Viagra resulted in the arrest of two men on felony charges of money laundering and dispensing a prescription drug illegally. Human trafficking was also investigated after agents who are trained to identify signs of labor and trafficking crimes observed common signs such as refusal to answer questions in relation to their identification and extreme nervousness around law enforcement.⁹³

C. Illegal mining

Many low-and-middle-income countries depend heavily on mining to develop their resource endowments as a component of wider national economic growth.94 Studies carried out by the International Council on Mining and Minerals have found that the income from mining can contribute as much as 25 percent of total government revenue.⁹⁵ However, in some the world's most important gold mining countries, a substantial share of the mining and associated resource development is illicit. In 2016, it was estimated that 28 percent of gold mined in Peru, 30 percent of gold mined in Bolivia, 77 percent of gold mined in Ecuador, 80 percent of gold mined in Colombia and 80 to 90 percent of Venezuelan gold were produced illegally.96

With its global scale and diverse operations, the mining industry has opportunities to mobilize significant human, physical, technological and financial resources to drive development across the world by creating decent jobs, enabling economic diversification, contributing taxes, and bringing vital investments and infrastructure to resource-rich but nonetheless remote and underserved areas.⁹⁷ It also supports social development and inclusion for millions of people employed in a wide range of businesses, building the skills of employees and bringing financial security and other benefits to communities where it operates.

Conversely, poorly managed or illegal mining and the subsequent trade in illegally sourced resources can lead to environmental degradation, human rights abuse and conflict, while providing a significant source of revenue for organized crime and terrorist groups.⁹⁸ Moreover, the presence of criminal groups in the mining and minerals sector drives corruption and negatively impacts stability, governance, development and the rule of law.⁹⁹



In evaluating the presence of forced labor in mining, it is important to differentiate between illegal mining and Artisanal and Small-scale mining (ASM). With ASM, the majority of workers work informally. As defined by the Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, "informal mining is conducted by miners who operate on a small-scale and have begun the process of formalisation but have not yet been able to meet all legal requirements."100 As such, ASM is not by definition illicit, nor does it imply that the workers are criminals. The informal, unregulated nature of their situation does, however, leave them at particular risk of labor exploitation and human trafficking by organized criminals.101

Illegal mining, on the other hand, is illegal from the outset. It is "carried out in blatant violation of the law" and "often linked to the corruption of government officials, human trafficking, money laundering, and contraband."¹⁰² Illegal mines usually operate in protected areas and/ or fail to comply with environmental, tax and labor law.^{103, 104} Verité states that "these mines are not necessarily small, and can operate with international capital, with profits that can run into the billions."¹⁰⁵ To put this into perspective, in Peru illegal mining is estimated to be more lucrative than drug trafficking.¹⁰⁶

Verité also argue that "because these mines operate clandestinely and fail to abide by the law, the workers employed in [there] are generally poorer, more marginalized, and more vulnerable to extreme forms of labor exploitation, including forced labor and human trafficking."¹⁰⁷

There are numerous reports highlighting how the labor abuse in these illegal mining operations manifests itself:

- For the period of 2007 to 2011, the Peruvian Ministry of Labor reported that there were 48,000 victims of forced labor throughout Peru and highlighted the mining region of Madre de Dios as having one of the highest incidences of forced labor.¹⁰⁸
- In a study into labor conditions in the mining region Madre de Dios in Peru, Verité found evidence that miners were subject to unfree recruitment, work and life under duress, impossibility of leaving employer, and sex trafficking of adults and minors.¹⁰⁹ These are all indicators of forced labor. Moreover, the migrant workers appeared to be in exploitative labor circumstances, with no contract or benefits and long working hours in hazardous working and living conditions.¹¹⁰
- The US Department of Labor reports that "children in Peru work in informal and smallscale mining, particularly for gold, sometimes in situations of forced labor, and are exposed to hazards, including wall collapses, landslides, explosives accidents, and exposure to mercury and harmful gases. Near mining areas, children are also subjected to commercial sexual exploitation, sometimes as a result of human trafficking."¹¹¹ Furthermore, "in 2019, the Government of Peru continued 'Operation Mercury' to combat the pervasive practice of illegal gold mining in the Amazonian region, which has historically fostered child labor, forced labor, and commercial sexual exploitation."¹¹² In September 2019, during this operation, Peruvian authorities dismantled a

human trafficking network in Madre de Dios, arresting 15 people.¹¹³

- In Angola, the US Department of Labor and US Department of State reported on undocumented migrant children entering the country to work in illicit diamond mining, where "some experience conditions of forced labor or commercial sexual exploitation in mining camps."¹¹⁴
- Investigations into massive illegal mining operations for mica in India found children as young as six years-old working in the mines. It was also estimated that between five and 10 children die in the mines each month, with the number of adult fatalities even higher. Reports state that "90% of the deaths are never reported because of the unwelcome attention they might bring."¹¹⁵
- In Madagascar's southern provinces of Androy, Anosy, and Ihorombe, several reports highlight the involvement of as many as 10,800 children ages 3 to 17 in the mining and sorting of mica.¹¹⁶ Not only are the children not in school, but they are exposed to injuries from digging mines and from falling rocks, experience trouble breathing as a result of the lack of oxygen in the mines and use of dangerous tools without any protective equipment.¹¹⁷

These examples expose the links between forced labor and illegal mining and show that it is a lucrative crime that preys on the vulnerable, abusing children and adults alike. Illegal mining is dangerous work that keeps the next generation out of school, and traps women, children and migrant workers in slave-like conditions.

D. Illegal, Unregulated and Unreported Fishing

Illicit fishing is a major global problem. Global losses to Illegal, Unregulated and Unreported (IUU) fishing have been estimated at some US\$ 15.5 – 36.4 billion, representing 14 – 33 percent of the global marine capture value.¹¹⁸ In West African waters IUU fishing may account for as much as 37 percent of all fish caught.¹¹⁹ Large-scale IUU fishing plunders the oceans, endangers food security, weakens economies, depletes fish stocks, and undermines conservation and management efforts. Furthermore, it deprives coastal fishing communities of income, undermines the rule of law, deprives states of revenues and distorts free and fair competition for law-abiding commercial fishermen. IUU fishing also supports associated illegal activity, including money laundering and tax evasion, and it creates a market for slave labor.



IUU fishing occurs when illicit operators harvest fish beyond established boundaries or above quotas. Specifically, IUU fishing refers to fishing activities that contravene regional, national or international fisheries conservation or management measures, or that occur outside the reach of these laws and regulations.¹²⁰ IUU consists of three distinct but related elements:

- Illegal fishing are activities conducted in waters under the jurisdiction of a State, without the permission of that State, or in contravention of its laws and regulations.
- Unreported fishing refers to fishing activities (i) which have not been reported or have been misreported to the relevant national authority; or (ii) undertaken in the area of competence of a relevant regional fisheries management organization (RFMO) which have not been reported or have been misreported in contravention of the reporting procedures of that organization.

• Unregulated fishing is a broader term, which refers to fishing activities conducted by vessels without nationality, or those flying the flag of a country not party to a RFMO within the jurisdiction of that RFMO, or more generally fishing in a manner which contravenes the regulations of the RFMO.

Most research undertaken to date shows that human rights violations—including forced labor are associated with IUU fishing and that these "instances of human trafficking in the fishing industry are reported to take place in most major regions of the world."¹²¹ As an indication, the 2016 edition of the *US Trafficking in Persons report* showed that 54 countries were identified as destination or transit countries for human trafficking to support marine and freshwater fishing industries.¹²²

In addition to the significant economic and environmental costs associated with IUU fishing, the following examples illustrate the linkages to trafficking in persons for the purpose of forced labor.

- ILO reports that crews of IUU fishing vessels have been shown to be particularly prone to forced labor and human trafficking because of the isolation of the workplace, strong competition within the industry, and the ready supply of vulnerable workers.¹²³
- The Gangmasters and Labour Abuse Authority has reported an increase in reports of illicit shellfish harvesting involving labor exploitation, most of which suggest links between gangmasters and Asian restaurants.¹²⁴
- Reports also show that migrant laborers and fishers fall prey to human traffickers as victims of trafficking for the purpose of forced labor on board fishing vessels, in port, or in fish processing plants. These examples indicate that fishing operators and fish processing operators create a demand for victims of trafficking.¹²⁵

Box 1: Forced labor in the Thai fishing industry



While forced labor in IUU fishing is a problem throughout the world, Thailand accounts for one of the most notorious locations for abuse in the fishing industry. An extract from the 2019 *US Trafficking in Persons report* highlights the type of abuse that fishermen were subjected to in the Thai fishing industry:

"Labor traffickers subject Thai, Burmese, Cambodian, Vietnamese, and Indonesian men and boys to forced labor on Thai and foreign-owned fishing boats. Some are paid little or irregularly, incur debts from brokers and employers, work as much as 18 to 20 hours per day for seven days a week, and without adequate food, water or medical supplies. Some boat captains threaten, beat, and drug fishermen to work longer hours. Some trafficking victims in the fishing sector had difficulty returning home due to isolated workplaces, unpaid wages, and the lack of legitimate identity documents or safe means to travel."¹²⁶

Focusing on the abuse of Burmese men, the US State Department reports:

"Senior crew aboard Thai-owned and flagged fishing vessels subject some Burmese men to forced labor through debt-based coercion, passport confiscation, threats of physical or financial harm, or fraudulent recruitment; they also subject some to physical abuse and force them to remain aboard vessels in international waters for years at a time without coming ashore."¹²⁷

Similar abuse is reported on Cambodian workers:

"Cambodian men working on Thai-owned and -operated fishing vessels report deceptive recruitment tactics, severe physical abuse, underpayment or nonpayment of wages, restrictions on access to medical care, and confinement at sea for years at a time without permission to come ashore."¹²⁸

What is reported on Burmese and Cambodian men is echoed for Indonesians, covering a wider set of national waters:

"Indonesian fishermen working on Taiwan, Thai, Malaysian, and Philippines-flagged fishing vessels operating in Indonesian, Thai, Sri Lankan, Mauritian, and Indian waters reported boat captains perpetrated pervasive abuse, forced labor, unpaid salaries, and, in some cases, murder. Dozens of recruitment agencies in Burma, Indonesia, and Thailand hire fishermen, assign them fake identity and labor permit documents, and force them to fish long hours in waters for low or unpaid salaries while incurring severe physical abuse. Boat captains and crews prohibit fishermen from leaving their vessels and reporting these abuses by threats of exposing their fake identities to the authorities or by detaining them on land in makeshift prisons. More than 7,000 Indonesian fishermen per year sign in and out of foreign vessels at the port in Cape Town, South Africa, reportedly facing dire working conditions, particularly on vessels owned by citizens of Taiwan, Korea, and Japan."¹²⁹

While these reports do not make a distinction on whether forced labor occurs in the legal or illegal fishing sector, it is reasonable to believe that IUU fishing is more prone to the use of forced labor.

There are currently three active Withhold Release Order (WRO) issues by the US Customs and Border Protection (CBP) against fishing vessels,130 and one WRO issued against an entire distant-water fishing fleet owned by the Chinese company Dalian Ocean Fishing Co. Ltd.¹³¹ This means that at all US ports of entry, CBP will detain seafood harvested by these three fishing vessels and fishing vessels owned by the Dalian Ocean Fishing Co. Ltd. The first-ever WRO against an entire distant-water fishing fleet for the fleet owned by the Dalian Ocean Fishing Co. was issued after the agency identified all 11 of the International Labour Organization's indicators of forced labor during its investigation including physical violence, withholding of wages, and abusive working and living conditions.¹³² On board Dalian Ocean Fishing Co.'s Long Xing 629, 4 crew members died, and the surviving 20 reported 18 hour work days without adequate food or water, confiscated passports, and physical violence. Long Xing 629 was involved in finning endangered sharks, amassing nearly 800 kg of shark fins during its year at sea.133

There are several additional reports of forced labor in IUU fishing:

- In 2018, Thai fishing boats *Sang Samut 3* and *Sang Samut 2* were under investigation for human trafficking and seized by Royal Thai Navy officers. Both boats were involved in illegal whale shark fishing off the coast of Phuket.¹³⁴
- Indonesia's navy detained a Thai refrigerated cargo ship, *Silver Sea 2*, off the island of Sumatra after it received illegal Indonesian catch from two fishing trawlers. The Thai captain was detained, and a human trafficking investigation was launched.¹³⁵

In sum, IUU fishing is far from 'lack of compliance with technical regulations' issue – it is an illicit trade where vulnerable populations are forced to work in inhuman conditions, without any possibility to escape their situation of abuse.

E. Illicit tobacco products

Illicit trade in tobacco is rampant with estimates indicating that 1 in every 10 cigarettes and tobacco products consumed globally is illicit.¹³⁶ The annual value of the illicit trade in tobacco is estimated at US\$ 60 billion,¹³⁷ resulting in a considerable loss of tax and duty revenue for governments and helping fund organized crime and terrorist groups.¹³⁸

Criminals engage in many forms of illegal trade in tobacco, including contraband cigarettes, counterfeits, illicit or cheap whites, grey market cigarettes and loose tobacco. Illicit trade in tobacco generally includes "any practice or conduct prohibited by law which relates to production, shipment, receipt, possession, distribution, sale, or purchase of tobacco products including any practice or conduct intended to facilitate such activity."¹³⁹ This can either be:

- Illicit manufacture: cigarettes produced in legal or covert facilities and not declared to tax authorities (e.g., counterfeits of established international brands, non-duty paid production for local consumption, duty and non-duty paid production for smuggling out¹⁴⁰); or
- Illicit importation: tobacco products produced/ brought in one jurisdiction and then illegally transported to another where prices or taxes are relatively higher, either for personal consumption or commercial exploitation (e.g., bootlegging and large-scale smuggling).¹⁴¹

The fact that tobacco products are easily transported and disguised, coupled with low penalties, makes this type of illicit trade a *highprofit, low-risk* source of revenue for organized criminal networks and terrorist organizations. It also presents the potential for the use of forced labor.¹⁴² Criminals are going to great lengths to stay undetected and keep costs down – with slave labor being a key component in this. The following cases show that when forced labor has been found associated with illicit tobacco, it is usually in the manufacturing of illicit tobacco products. • In February 2020, the Spanish Civil Guard (supported by Europol, Lithuanian Customs Criminal Service (Muitinės kriminalinė tarnyba), Polish Police Central Bureau of Investigation (Centralne Biuro Śledcze Policiji) and LEAs from the United Kingdom) dismantled an organized criminal group involved in illegal cigarette manufacturing and drug trafficking. What they found was a complete production line for illicit cigarettes hidden in an underground bunker, together with beds and living quarters for the workers. According to Europol, workers there were forced to work in extremely dangerous and toxic conditions and were not allowed to leave the facility. After the criminal leaders were arrested, the workers were left trapped in the underground bunker,¹⁴³ until they were found banging on the soundproofed trapdoor, gasping for air.144

Europol also reported a similar case that uncovered workers being blindfolded when transported to and from the clandestine factory. Workers may have been paid for their work, but they were not allowed to leave, or to make contact with other people while working.¹⁴⁵

Another European case similarly deals with the intersection of clandestine production of cigarettes and forced labor:

 In November 2019, the Hungarian National Tax and Customs Administration (NTCA, Nemzeti Adó- és Vámhivatal) uncovered an illegal cigarette factory operating in a rented warehouse in Budapest. Upon arresting the ringleaders and 20 factory workers,¹⁴⁶ Europol and EUIPO reported that the workers had been forced to live and work in the factory, unable to leave the locked, soundproof, purpose-built rooms.¹⁴⁷

Workers were also housed in the illicit tobacco factory in two recent cases from Spain:

• In March 2021, a joint investigation by Spain's Customs Surveillance of the Tax Agency and the National Police resulted in the raid of two factories dedicated to the illegal production of tobacco in Valladolid. The investigation began in November 2020, when Bulgarian authorities informed Spanish authorities that Bulgarian citizens would enter Spain with the intent to work in a clandestine tobacco factory. After months of surveillance, an inspection pointed to labor exploitation of workers. In addition to finding all the machinery necessary for the complete production of illicit cigarettes, investigators observed that the warehouse was fully equipped to house workers, including toilets, kitchen and sleeping quarters in order to avoid anyone having to leave the factory. A home address of one of the Bulgarian citizens was also searched. A total of ten mobile phones in airplane mode were found, which confirmed that the workers, in addition to being completely isolated from the outside world, were also deprived from any forms of communication in order to avoid informing anyone of their location. Eight Ukrainian nationals, and one Bulgarian national, were arrested.148

 In January 2021, Spanish officials investigated an illicit tobacco factory in Andalusia and seized 45,500 packs of cigarettes, 4,200 kilos of sting and 10,320 kilos of tobacco leaf and machinery for making cigarettes. The raid also found workers who lived inside the warehouses crammed into a single room without windows. They were not permitted outside the warehouse, were denied contact with the outside world, and remained at all times under the control of the leaders of the criminal organization.¹⁴⁹

Clearly, these cases illustrate a complete disregard for the lives of workers forced into illicit tobacco operations while locked inside warehouses – either above or below ground – and even left to die after ring leaders were arrested. This shows how workers in illicit operations are essential but viewed as disposable.

F. Illegal pesticides

Agrochemicals and specifically pesticides are an integral part of conventional agriculture to help maximize crop quantity and quality by reducing pests and diseases that cause damage to crops and limit crop yield.¹⁵⁰ Given the widespread global use of pesticides – a market projected to reach US\$90 billion by 2023¹⁵¹ – it is not surprising that counterfeit and illegally-traded versions are finding their way into markets worldwide.¹⁵² The share of illegal pesticides in the global market is estimated as being as high as 25 percent.¹⁵³

Illegal agrochemicals include: obsolete or banned unauthorized pesticides; untested, unregulated, or unlicensed pesticides; unauthorized imports; counterfeit and fake pesticides; relabeled or mislabeled pesticides; and refilled pesticides containers.¹⁵⁴ These illegal pesticides are untested for safety and may contain unapproved and unknown impurities, uncertified chemicals, illegal formulations, incorrect proportions of active ingredients and have fraudulent or nonexistent guidelines for proper usage.

The trade and use of illegal pesticides present significant risks to human health in the forms of food toxicity, exposure to unsafe chemicals, and safety hazards associated with transportation and handling. Counterfeit and illegal pesticides often contain chemicals which are either banned or restricted due to the risk they pose to human health and/or the environment. Additionally, counterfeit and illegal pesticides are often falsely declared to avoid international labelling requirements designed to ensure safety during transport. As a result, highly toxic, flammable or otherwise hazardous substances are transported without regard to the safety of the staff handling the product, bystanders and the environment.

Profits from illegal pesticides represent a highly lucrative activity for organized crime, with criminal networks hiding their operations in complex global supply chains including repackaging, remarking and changing labels.¹⁵⁵ Europol reports that "the trade in illegal and counterfeit pesticides is organized by highly sophisticated criminal networks [and that] criminals have developed complex global supply chains and exploit legal companies to camouflage their activities."¹⁵⁶ As a criminal enterprise, there is little threat to the profitability of criminal activities with illegal pesticides. Moreover, criminals are unlikely to be apprehended as authorities are under-resourced and the penal system does not usually create a significant deterrent.

Organized criminals producing illicit pesticides are not only disregarding health, safety and environmental laws. There are also reports of their disregard for labor and human rights.

- In April 2021, NAS Nuclei Antisofisticazioni e Sanità, a special unit of Italy's Carabinieri in charge of monitoring that food supply chains are free of frauds - arrested 7 people between Terracina (Latina) and the province of Venice on charges of criminal association aimed at the exploitation of non-EU citizens in agriculture, extortion and use of unauthorized pesticides for greenhouse cultivation. The investigations identified 157 workers, and 224 liters of unauthorized plant protection products were seized. According to investigators, foreign citizens were subjected to conditions of exploitation and being forced to work in hazardous conditions without protective equipment.157
- In February 2021, Turkish authorities raided and seized counterfeit pesticides worth 20 million Turkish Lira (approximately US\$ 2.4 million).¹⁵⁸ During the raid, investigators also identified refugees from Afghanistan that were being exploited by criminals for manufacturing the illicit pesticides.
- Another example of the close link between illegal pesticides and forced labor is a recent case from central Italy. NAS reported the seizure of 200 liters of irregular pesticide products arriving from China. Once on site, workers are forced work under the cover at night to conceal their application of illegal pesticides to agricultural land. They were also subjected to grueling working hours during harvest periods and were paid for far fewer days than actually worked (see Box 2).

Box 2: Forced labor and illegal pesticides in Italy



In November 2019, the Sikh agricultural workforce in Agro Pontino in the Lazio region of Italy once again took to the streets to protest against unacceptable working conditions, starvation wages and grueling working hours during harvesting periods. There are reports where laborers are being recruited by the gangmasters along the Pontine roads, getting paid for fewer days than actually worked, or being forced to work at night to ensure that no one can see that they are forced to use illegal pesticides. Workers were also subject to sexual abuse in the countryside.

Due to the toxic nature of the illegal pesticides that workers were forced to apply, there were many reports of illness and in turn physical abuse suffered by those who dared to report the illness or go to the hospital emergency room. Workers also reported on the harms of applying the sprayed pesticides, which are drawn into the nose and mouth while breathing. Most of these forced laborers were provided with no protective equipment, and when they were, the toxicity and strength of the illegal pesticides were so strong that they penetrated the gear, leaving injury to nose and chest.

Marco Omizzolo, researcher and sociologist with Eurispes, reports that:

"Certain doctors kept telling me about serious pathologies, even cancerous ones, skin problems, problems with the respiratory system, irritation spread throughout the body, always on the bodies of the workers, men and sometimes even women. We have found a combination that we define as perverse and dramatic, between labour exploitation, mafias, agromafias, and a question of health - public and environmental health. [...] They are completely clandestine, completely illegal, and are then spread, used by labourers, sometimes even at night, without any kind of protection, to be able to increase agricultural production. The consequences are dramatic. We know that the basic chemical elements are purchased on the Chinese market, are brought to Italy even passing through the ports of Gioia Tauro and Naples, are processed in clandestine laboratories probably in the hands of the Camorra and then sold to certain bosses, agricultural producers in the province of Latina, but also, we know, in Sicily. There are companies that have, we suspect, direct relationships with large mafia organisations. Eurispes claims that the turnover of agromafias is as high as around 25 billion euros every year, in agriculture alone. Our latest financial package is 30 billion euros, the agromafias make 25 billion euros every year. This is to give some idea of the business that is above and below this system."

Sources: Rosa, R. (2019, November 18). Lavoro e Veleni. Tv7. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ORuSY8JdMKs

The Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori San Gallicano Regina Elena in Rome carried out a study on the consequences of illegal pesticides on the health of farm workers, starting with an analysis of the various dermatological tumors found on the skin of greenhouse laborers. The Institute reports findings of cutaneous lymphoma because of skin damage from toxicity, but that the damage is not limited to the skin. The most serious damage from working in the greenhouses is damage over time, due to absorption of these substances in the lungs, mucous membranes and blood, and therefore serious damage from the point of view of the risk of developing tumors.¹⁵⁹

Even for doctors, getting in touch with farm workers is not easy. Few workers have the courage to speak out against the working conditions, the complete lack of protection for the nose, mouth and hands, and the absence of any job protection, as "whoever reports it is threatened, beaten, or even killed."¹⁶⁰

In sum, illegal pesticides are both produced and used by forced laborers. In both instances, worker health and well-being are at serious risk from the forced handling of toxic chemicals, especially in poorly ventilated spaces.

G. Illegal timber

The International Union of Forest Research Organizations (IUFRO) broadly defines illegal logging and related timber trade as including "all practices related to the harvesting, processing and trading of timber inconsistent with national and sub-national law."¹⁶¹

The estimated annual retail value of illegal logging is US\$ 52 to 157 billion, making it the world's most profitable natural resource crime, with knock-on effects of reducing government tax revenue on sales and exports.¹⁶² Illegal logging and illicit trade in timber undermines sustainable economic growth, economic development and environmental conservation. It not only puts the livelihoods of forest-dependent communities at risk, but also causes serious harm to workers. There are several examples of forced labor being used in illegal logging. Observed instances of forced labor in illegal timber harvesting has included threats, violence, poor living and working conditions, a lack of formal contracts, and non-payment of wages. It also occurs in sawmills, where workers have to work excessive and unpaid overtime while having their documents retained and movement restricted.

The US Department of State's 2019 Trafficking in Persons Report shows that forestry workers, and in particular migrant workers, in the Czech Republic and Estonia have been subjected to forced labor, often by being compelled to work to pay off debt to their employers.¹⁶³ The US Department of Labor lists Cambodia, Vietnam, Peru, North Korea, along with Brazil and Russia - two of the largest timber-producing countries globally - as countries in which timber is at risk of being produced with child or forced labor.164 While these reports do not make a distinction on whether forced labor occurs in the legal or illegal forestry sector, it is reasonable to believe that unregulated and clandestine illegal logging activity is more prone to the use of forced labor. By some estimates, up to 50 percent of illegal logging globally is dependent on forced labor.¹⁶⁵

- In Brazil, investigations have identified forced work, debt bondage, isolation, exhausting working hours and life-threatening activities at illegal logging camps. Furthermore, work was conducted without any protective or safety equipment for workers.¹⁶⁶ Since 2003, 931 enslaved workers have been rescued from logging activities in the state of Pará alone.¹⁶⁷
- Similar reports are coming out of illegal logging operations in the Peruvian Amazon. The abuse includes non-payment of wages, remuneration in kind, and sub-human working conditions. In the most remote areas of the Amazon where workers cannot escape their documentation is taken from them. Salaries are low and goods are expensive, which in turn initiates a debt cycle from which workers cannot break free.¹⁶⁸

 In Chihuahua, Mexico, a Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime report from 2020 highlights a significant number of indicators of forced labor in illegal logging operations. Workers are subjected to hazardous working conditions – either working without the necessary personal protective equipment (PPE) or being forced to pay for PPE themselves, which is likely to reduce usage rates. The resulting health risks include everything from cuts and loss of limbs to severe injuries and even death from falling trees and timber. The fear of physical violence ensures that workers follow orders and only leave their employment once they are permitted to do so. Furthermore, workers' movements are controlled by lookouts patrolling the illegal logging sites. Kidnapped minors and teenagers are also forced to: engage in illegal logging activities; work as lookouts, debt collectors and assassins for illegal logging operations; engage in the cultivation, trafficking and sale of drugs; and are paid with drugs for the purpose of being able to be controlled and manipulated.¹⁶⁹

V. CONCLUSIONS

"[Protecting] Human rights and [promoting] anti-counterfeiting initiatives have overlapping goals. That is, if counterfeit operations in (mostly) developing countries are forced to shut down, then a significant level of the forced labor is reduced and subsequently the level of fashion counterfeits entering the market."¹⁷⁰

- Angela Terese Timpone, Editor, Cardogo Public Law, Policy, and Ethics Journal

In its study of the incidence of forced labor in the activities of the illicit economy, this report has drawn its inspiration from the work of *ILO et al*, who advanced the premise that the underlying economic activity in global supply chains should be investigated as a source of demand for forced labor.

With that in mind, this report expands the investigation to the impact of illicit economic activity as a source of demand for forced labor, stipulating that if highly regulated commercial supply chains can be infiltrated with forced labor, then so can unregulated, untaxed, unlicensed illicit sectors and trading markets.

To make the case that greater attention must be given to the illicit economic activity as a source of demand for forced labor, this report has investigated the incidence of forced labor in eight sectors where illicit activity is, unfortunately, regularly reported. These sectors include: (i) counterfeiting of apparel, footwear and luxury goods; (ii) counterfeiting of electronics machinery and equipment; (iii) substandard and falsified medical products; (iv) illegal mining; (v) illegal, unregulated and unreported fishing; (vi) illicit tobacco products; (vii) illegal pesticides; and (vii) illegal timber.

While all forms of forced labor are intrinsically illegal, this report has focused exclusively on cases where forced labor occurs in illicit economic activity that runs parallel to legal supply chain operations. This illicit economic activity can include manufacturing, downstream product distribution, trademark infringing activities and, in limited cases, upstream harvesting of illicit product.

As a result of interviews conducted with a wide range of companies, trade associations, government agencies, intergovernmental organizations, extensive desk research and conversations with investigators, this report has expanded the understanding of how organized criminals are using and abusing labor and demonstrated how forced labor/child labor/ human trafficking intersect with multiple forms of illicit trade. It delineates examples of forced labor used explicitly for illegal or illicit operations, such as the manufacture or trade of counterfeit apparel, pharmaceuticals and pesticides, or crossborder smuggling of illicit alcohol or tobacco.

As this report shows, the unbounded, illicit underground economy is responsible for human rights abuses, specifically as a source of demand for forced labor, child labor and human trafficking. Far from being a victimless crime, women, children and men of all ages and race are forced to labor in illicit sectors, where they are abused by organized criminal criminals in their pursuit of profits.

Findings

- Incidents of forced labor are reported all along the illicit supply chain – from agriculture harvesting and minerals extraction upstream to counterfeit manufacturing and street-corner retailing further downstream.
 - Starting with the counterfeit phenomenon, this is far from a victimless crime. As is evident by the sheer number of cases of forced labor in counterfeit apparel, footwear and luxury goods, the use of forced
labor is a pervasive problem in both the manufacturing and sales of goods. Similarly, the manufacturing and sale of counterfeit electronics is also a sector where forced laborers are abused by organized criminals, with severe human rights consequences as a result.

- For illegal pesticides, forced labor is used for manufacturing and in the agricultural application of these toxic chemicals. In both instances, health and well-being are at serious risk.
- Inhuman working conditions are present in IUU fishing. In this sector, it is not just a lack of compliance with technical regulations that we are dealing with.
 Human lives are at risk, with women, children and men trapped in situations of serious abuse.
- Illegal mining is a lucrative crime that preys on the vulnerable, abusing children and adults alike. It is dangerous work that keeps the next generation out of school, and keeps women, children and migrant workers in slave like conditions.
- Workers' treatment in the illicit tobacco clearly shows how workers are viewed as essential but disposable and left to die when operations are uncovered.
- Forced labor is also being used in illegal timber operations, where workers are subjected to threats, violence, poor living and working conditions, a lack of formal contracts, non-payment of wages, excessive and unpaid overtime, and have their restricted. Minors and teenagers are also kidnapped and forced into illegal logging activities.

- There is a complete disregard by illicit traders for human rights and labor rights in their treatment of workers, where children, women and men alike are exploited and, at worst, viewed as disposable components of production. In many cases, they are being forced to risk their life or endure severe health consequences as a result of the abuse they have been subjected to.
- It is difficult but not impossible to identify and mitigate labor abuses and enforce human rights in illicit sectors that purposely conceal detection and where regulatory frameworks (e.g., allowing for labor-related inspections) are weak and/or poorly enforced.
- While significant work is being done to address forced labor, and significant work is being done to mitigate illicit trade, the nexus between the two topics is a largely unexplored area where further research and data collection is needed.
- Government enforcement agencies report challenges they face in enforcing against goods based on human rights and labor abuses.
 For example, stopping goods for trademark violations is more straightforward than tracing a violation back to the use of forced labor.
 Consequently, if pursuing a trademark violation will more likely result in a seizure or penalty, this approach will be pursued and potential data on forced labor and human rights abuses in illicit operations is at risk of being lost.
- It will be crucial to improve data collection efforts on associated criminal activity and labor abuses in trademark infringing operations.
 Without complete data and insights on how these organized criminal networks are running their operations, we are devising a response in the dark. This knowledge gap urgently needs to be addressed.

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS

The overarching takeaway from this report is that nations will not be able to successfully combat forced labor unless they also root out illicit trade in all its forms, as these illegal activities drive demand for continued and increased exploitation.

If human rights objectives are to be achieved, then more resources, better information and more effective cooperation across enforcement agencies are needed.

A legion of conventions has been passed – in the forced labor space and in the illicit trade space – but none address these issues jointly. The same can be said for an even greater number of laws that have been implemented. The political will to address forced labor certainly seems to be in place, but nonetheless, the problem persists.

Building on the findings from this report, and in order to encourage an effective policy response to forced labor in illicit trade, TRACIT has prepared a set of policy recommendations. These recommendations provide a "checklist" of fundamental measures that governments are encouraged to implement to improve their ability to defend against the wider societal harms of illicit trade, with a particular emphasis on labor violations and human rights abuses.

Big Picture

Apply a holistic approach to forced labor and illicit trade

Governments need to account for the interconnected nature of the challenge. A holistic approach is needed to address the significant number of interdependencies and overlapping problems relating to forced labor and illicit trade. While illicit trade manifests itself slightly differently across sectors, there are common denominators such as the involvement of organized crime groups and their abuse of workers in the pursuit of their illegal activities. Commonalities need to be identified, and strategies developed with these insights as a backbone.

Intergovernmental organizations (IGOs) active in the forced labor and illicit trade spaces could consider developing a multi-stakeholder action plan on forced labor in illicit trade, taking into consideration existing government regulations and enforcement efforts, initiatives from the business community, and input from civil society stakeholders.

Ensure that policies and regulatory frameworks addressing forced labor include provisions investigating occurrences in illicit economic activity

While important steps have been taken to investigate and addresses the problem of forced labor at its root cause, namely the underlying commercial activity that can create demand for these labor abuses, the next logical – and necessary – step will be to ensure that these efforts are extended to the illicit side of global economic activity.

Foster political will and leadership

Addressing the threat of illicit trade on workers' rights will require political will of government officials at all levels to prioritize the problem, actively pursue solutions and invest in enforcement measures. This study provides a first step, by raising awareness on the threat of illicit trade to achieving commitments to tackle forced labor, child labor and human trafficking. It is hoped that this work will also serve as a roadmap to help policy makers identify areas that merit greater attention and to formulate effective strategies to address the serious threats posed by illicit trade.

Enforce the provisions of existing international legal instruments addressing both forced labor and illicit trade

International treaties are a source of guidelines and legally binding standards aimed to drive national action and international cooperation. Given the transnational nature of both illicit trade and forced labor, treaties play a critical role in facilitating information-sharing for law enforcement purposes and providing common terminologies and concepts to ensure coordination by countries with different legal and institutional systems.

International treaties are an important indicator of a country's commitment to addressing forced labor and illicit trade. Their provisions need to be enforced to ensure continued progress in rooting our labor abuses in both licit and illicit economic activity.

Key international treaties directly related to illicit trade include:

- Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), 1973
- Basel Convention on the Control of Transboundary Movement of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal, 1989
- Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), 1994
- United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, 2000
- Council of Europe Convention on the Counterfeiting of Medical Products and Similar Crimes Involving Threats to Public Health, 2011
- Protocol to Eliminate Illicit Trade in Tobacco Products, 2012

In the forced labor space, key international treaties are:

- Forced Labour Convention, 1930
- Minimum Age Convention, 1973
- Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989

- Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999
- Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons Especially Women and Children, supplementing the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime, 2000
- Protocol to the Forced Labour Convention, 2014

Include anti-illicit trade policies as part of national plans to combat forced labor

The findings from this study demonstrate that illicit trade is a significant deterrent to achieving country commitments against forced labor. As governments go about formulating policies and implementing programs to combat labor rights abuses, efforts to reduce the deterrent forces of illicit trade need to be factored in.

Strengthen inter-agency collaboration

To address the intersection between forced labor and illicit trade, as well as the multifaceted problem of these issues, Governments should: (i) increase coordination across agencies responsible for law enforcement, labor, health, economic, security, finance and customs; (ii) increase information exchange among law enforcement authorities (e.g. police, customs, immigration, inspection, health agencies); and (iii) increase cooperation between investigative authorities and Financial Intelligence Units in the fight against money laundering and in upholding financial investigations.

Furthermore, it is recommended that countries promote joint training opportunities and exercises to ensure each agency understands the intersection between forced labor and illicit trade, as well as the constraints and expectations of other agencies in addressing both, to discuss/ validate common procedures and, generally, encourage a culture of mutual support.

Improve capacities

Collect data to ensure evidence-based policymaking in the forced labor in illicit trade space

Additional data collected in the field is needed to improve our understanding of how illicit supply networks operate, and how they recruit, use and abuse their labor force. Governments should actively support data gathering efforts on the incidence of forced labor in illicit operations to improve the evidence-base for national and international policy-making and standard setting. Cross-sectoral and multidisciplinary analysis of the political economy of illicit trade at the country level, focusing in on how forced labor is playing a part, will be key. In particular, governments should:

- Build on private sector initiatives, such as that undertaken by TRACIT to collect and process data from investigations, raids, seizures and other measures along illicit supply chains.
- Expand private sector data collection efforts to include a greater number of companies and sectors.
- Expand data collection efforts to include a greater number of operational stakeholders, such as private investigative firms active in the anti-counterfeiting space.
- Collect more data via collaboration with government and civil society.

Strengthen investigative techniques to address human rights abuses in illicit trade and dismantle organized crime groups

Governments need to utilize the full spectrum of investigative techniques available to disrupt the activities of OCGs. Given the close link between forced labor and illicit operations, governments should consider assigning labor inspectors to raids aimed at disrupting illicit operations in order to effectively identify and address forced labor cases and assist victims in exiting their situations of exploitation. Furthermore, governments should increase awareness raising and training for law enforcement officials, prosecutors, and judges to ensure adequate law enforcement related to forced labor and how to interact with victims of abuse.

Leverage technological innovations

Game-changing technological innovations can improve discovery and traceability of illicitly sourced product inputs and need to be catalyzed. A predictive model that red flags sectors and regions at risk of labor abuse in illicit trade needs to be developed and built with the goal of strengthening law enforcement's ability to detect, disrupt and dismantle these networks.

Improve public awareness and education on the threat of illicit trade and its link with forced labor

Efforts to address illicit trade are hampered by a lack of public awareness on its dangers and associated societal harms. To this end, local and regional educational campaigns and communitylevel awareness activities are essential to improve the understanding of the negative impacts of illicit trade. Organizations such as the OECD, UNODC and ILO are encouraged to continue their concerted efforts to quantify and communicate the costs of illicit trade and forced labor as isolated issues, but also to address how these two issues intersect.

Step up anti-illicit trade interventions

Organized criminals engaged in illicit trade are driving demand for forced labor. By prioritizing the fight against the illicit trade and implementing and enforcing measures to mitigate it, governments can effectively curb demand for forced labor in these applications. To do this, policymakers are encouraged to:

Appoint an Interagency Anti-Illicit Trade Coordinator

In order to successfully achieve strong and efficient interagency collaboration, countries should designate an "Anti-Illicit Trade Coordinator" with high-level authority to raise the profile of the issue, oversee coordination of relevant government officials and agencies, and allocate necessary financial and personnel resources. They may also consider the establishment of multi-agency task forces at the ministerial level in charge of defining policies, monitoring and collecting data on forced labor in and across specific illicit trade sectors.

Strengthen criminal penalties

Ensuring that criminal penalties offer adequate levels of deterrence should be a priority to limit opportunities for illicit traders to exploit countries and markets where weak penal regimes persist. In addition to court-imposed penalties and fines, consideration should be given to rescinding business licenses from retailers, manufacturers and distributors involved in illicit trade.

Tighten controls on money laundering

Denying access to entities and mechanisms used to launder proceeds of crime—and thereby depriving criminals and their networks of related profits—is one of the most effective ways to deter illicit trade. This requires a holistic, comprehensive anti-money laundering regime including the ability to trace, freeze, seize and confiscate assets related to illicit financial flows.

Strengthen the customs environment

Customs and other border control agencies have a key role in combating illicit trade at the border, with officers on the front-line conducting inspections and detecting and seizing illicit goods. A strong, clean, customs environment contributes strongly to combating illicit trade. Conversely, corruption at the border is a significant non-tariff barrier to trade that hampers economic growth and trade performance. Recent figures from the OECD show that improving integrity policies in customs alone has the potential to reduce trade costs by 0.5 and 1.1 percent.¹⁷¹ If customs' role is compromised, the system fails and enables opportunities for illegal trade, criminal activity, illegal financial flows and trafficking in products and persons. Promoting a better customs environment through enhanced public-private dialogue in cross- border processes can create significant benefits for society, as well as the public and private sectors.

Strengthen law enforcement efforts

Criminalizing illicit trade with deterrent sanctions is only as effective as the actions taken by the law enforcement community. Effective enforcement depends on high levels of coordination and the availability of adequate funding and training sufficient to address new challenges and patterns. Governments also need to respond to the magnitude of the problem by not only amending national laws and regulations, but also: (i) introducing legislation that targets various forms of illicit trade issues, such as the recent efforts of the US government to fight against illicit trade in wildlife172 and tobacco;173 and (ii) adapting their enforcement legislation and court procedures to a reality in which illicit operators covertly utilize a range of modern communications technologies and adeptly manipulate privacy laws to structure their international operations to remain undetected or to increase the costs and difficulty of detection.

Implement strong anti-corruption regimes

Strong anti-corruption regimes at the level of customs/border control, criminal justice officials and regulatory/inspection authorities are key in tackling illicit trade. Addressing corruption at all levels of government must be tackled head on if strategies to combat illicit trade are to have any chance for success.

Strengthen IPR legislation and enforcement

Strong IPR legislation needs to be in place, including the minimum standards required by the WTO agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property (TRIPS), and the enforcement of these provisions need to be prioritized. Policymakers also need to ensure that strict penalties for counterfeiting are in place; that customs officials are authorized to perform inspections and make provisional seizures of counterfeits, including goods in transit/ transshipment; that there are measures in place that govern the destruction of counterfeit/illicit goods; and, that there is a consistent scrutiny of producers and importers of counterfeit goods. In addition, policymakers are encouraged to ensure an expedited adjudication of counterfeiting and piracy cases presented to authorities.

Promote public-private partnerships

•

Public and private actors can play an important role in determining a responsive, evidence-based work program for addressing forced labor in illicit trade. Governments should promote the creation of private-public partnerships to bring key industry and government stakeholders together to define strategies, share know-how, intelligence and data, improve risk assessment, strengthen enforcement efforts and improve awareness.

APPENDIX: METHODOLOGY

For this project, TRACIT has undertaken desk research on forced labor in eight sectors of illicit trade and have conducted interviews with a wide range of companies, trade associations, government agencies and intergovernmental organizations to learn how organized criminals are using and abusing its labor force. The interviews and conversations ranged in duration between 30 minutes to an hour. They were not recorded, but detailed notes were taken.

Through discussions with the private sector, TRACIT has gained insight into how they run their counterfeit investigations as individual companies as well as within their sectors. TRACIT learned that forced labor is playing a part in both the manufacturing and sales of illicit goods. Not only are forced laborers' lives at risk in the manufacturing of illicit goods, but also when - in the case of for example illicit pesticides - forced laborers in the agricultural sector are forced to use these toxic products. Children, women and men alike are exploited. What stands out are illicit traders' complete disregard for human rights and labor rights in their treatment of workers. While an essential input into their criminal organizations, workers are viewed as disposable.

TRACIT has spoken with government enforcement agencies on how they address the nexus between forced labor and illicit trade, and the difficulties they face enforcing against goods based on human rights and labor abuses. Stopping goods for forced labor is difficult, which means that if there is a trademark issue to go after, that is what is most likely to yield a result and the route that will be taken. This results in a lack of data on forced labor and human rights abuses in illicit operations.

From the international organizations, the main takeaway was that this is a largely unexplored area where further research and data collection is needed.

TRACIT has designed and launched an 11-question survey for use in the field by vendors or brand representatives participating in surveillance, investigations and raids of illicit operations to record observations of forced labor and associated criminal activity. A briefing package on the topic and roll out, a training program and a data reporting tool to facilitate the data collection process was also provided. The findings from this data gathering effort will be published in a stand-alone report.

NOTES

- I ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour, forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/Ending-child-labour-forced-labour-andhuman-trafficking-in-global-supply-chains.pdf
- 2 United Nations. (2015). Sustainable Development Goals Officially Adopted by 193 Countries. New York: UN. http://www. un.org.cn/info/6/620.html
- 3 ILO & UNICEF. (2021). Child Labour: Global estimates 2020, trends and the road forward. New York: International Labour Organization and United Nations Children's Fund. p. 8.
- 4 Bigio, J. & Vogelstein, R. B. (2021). Ending Human Trafficking in the Twenty-First Century. Council Special Report No. 91 (June 2021). New York: Council on Foreign Relations. https:// cdn.cfr.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/ending-human-trafficking-in-the-twenty-first-century_3.pdf. p. 17.
- 5 Bigio, J. & Vogelstein, R. B. (2021). Ending Human Trafficking in the Twenty-First Century. Council Special Report No. 91 (June 2021). New York: Council on Foreign Relations. https:// cdn.cfr.org/sites/default/files/report_pdf/ending-human-trafficking-in-the-twenty-first-century_3.pdf. p. 18.
- 6 ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour; forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. http:// mne-guidelines.oecd.org/Ending-child-labour-forced-labourand-human-trafficking-in-global-supply-chains.pdf.
- 7 ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour; forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/Ending-child-labour-forced-labour-andhuman-trafficking-in-global-supply-chains.pdf.
- 8 G20 Labour and Employment Ministers. (2017). *Towards an Inclusive Future: Shaping the World of Work*. G20 Labour and Employment Ministers Meeting 2017, May 19, 2017, Bad Neunahr. http://www.g20.utoronto.ca/2017/170519-labour. html
- 9 Buenos Aires Declaration on Child Labour, Forced Labour and Youth Employment. IV Global Conference on the Sustained Eradication of Child Labour, Buenos Aires, Argentina, 14-16 November 2017. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/ public/---ed_norm/---ipec/documents/meetingdocument/ wcms_597667.pdf, p. 8; ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour, forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---ipec/documents/publication/wcms_716930.pdf, p. 1.

- 10 ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour, forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. http://mneguidelines.oecd.org/Ending-child-labour-forced-labour-andhuman-trafficking-in-global-supply-chains.pdf. p. 7.
- 11 World Economic Forum. (2014). Out of the Shadows: Why Illicit Trade and Organized Crime matter to us all, Global Agenda Council on Illicit Trade & Organized Crime 2012-2014. Cologny and Geneva: World Economic Forum.
- 12 ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour, forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. https://www. ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---ipec/documents/publication/wcms_716930.pdf. pp. 18-19.
- ILO. (2018). Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Picture (Third Edition). Geneva: International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms_626831. pdf
- 14 ILO, OECD, IOM, UNICEF. (2019). Ending child labour, forced labour and human trafficking in global supply chains. Geneva: International Labour Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, International Organization for Migration and United Nations Children's Fund. https://www. ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---ipec/documents/publication/wcms_716930.pdf
- 15 ILO. (2016). ILO Standards on Forced Labour: The New Protocol and Recommendation at a Glance. Geneva: International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/ public/---ed_norm/---declaration/documents/publication/ wcms_508317.pdf. p. 5.
- 16 ILO. (n.d.). Relevant SDG Targets related to Forced Labour. Geneva: International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/ global/topics/dw4sd/themes/forced-labour/WCMS_558561/ lang--en/index.htm
- 17 United Nations. (2011). *Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations 'Protect, Respect and Remedy' Framework*. New York and Geneva: United Nations and United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner. https://www.ohchr.org/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr_en.pdf. p. 1.
- 18 United Nations. (2011). Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights: Implementing the United Nations 'Protect, Respect and Remedy' Framework. New York and Geneva: United Nations and United Nations Human Rights Office of the High Commissioner. https://www.ohchr.org/documents/publications/guidingprinciplesbusinesshr_en.pdf. p. 3.
- 19 OECD. (2018). *Governance Frameworks to Counter Illicit Trade*. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/9789264291652-en.pdf?expires=1623705714&id=id& accname=guest&checksum=24CC7A3A5EoCC0EBC751242E-2A6EF75B

- 20 Allain, J., Crane, A., LeBaron, G., Behbahani, L. (2013). Forced Labour's Business Models and Supply Chains. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. p. 26.
- 21 European Commission. (2013). *Too good to be trye: the real price of fake products*. Brussels: European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/growth/content/too-good-be-true-real-price-fake-products_en
- 22 UNODC. (2014). Focus on the Illicit Trafficking of Counterfeit Goods and Transnational Organized Crime. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. https://www.unodc.org/ documents/counterfeit/FocusSheet/Counterfeit_focussheet_ EN_HIRES.pdf
- 23 UNODC. (2014). Focus on the Illicit Trafficking of Counterfeit Goods and Transnational Organized Crime. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. https://www.unodc.org/ documents/counterfeit/FocusSheet/Counterfeit_focussheet_ EN_HIRES.pdf
- 24 Europol. (2017). Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) and Other Criminal Actors. The Hague: Europol. https://www.europol. europa.eu/socta/2017/organised-crime-groups.html
- 25 IP Crime Group. (2020). IP Crime and Enforcement Report 19/20. Newport: IP Crime Group. https://assets.publishing. service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/913644/ip-crime-report-2019-20.pdf
- 26 Krajowa Administracja Skarbowa. (2020). *KAS wykryła nielegalną krajalnię tytoniu*. N.p.: Krajowa Administracja Skarbowa. https://www.slaskie.kas.gov.pl/izba-administracji-skarbowej-w-katowicach/wiadomosci/aktualnosci/-/asset_publisher/1THt/content/kas-wykryla-nielegalna-krajalnie-tytoniu?redirect=https:/%25
- 27 Finančné správa. (2021). Zabránili sme vyše miliónovému úniku na cle a daniach. Bratislava: Finančné správa. https://www. financnasprava.sk/sk/pre-media/novinky/archiv-noviniek/ detail-novinky/_zacyty-vn-ts
- 28 D'Antuono, S. M. (2018). Combating Money Laundering and Other Forms of Illicit Finance: Regulator and Law Enforcement Perspectives on Reform. Statement Before the Senate Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs Committee, Washington, D.C., November 29, 2018. https://www.fbi.gov/news/testimony/combating-money-laundering-and-other-forms-of-illicit-finance
- 29 UNODC. (n.d.). Money laundering. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. https://www.unodc.org/unodc/en/ money-laundering/overview.html
- 30 Allain, J., Crane, A., LeBaron, G., Behbahani, L. (2013). *Forced Labour's Business Models and Supply Chains*. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- 31 Allain, J., Crane, A., LeBaron, G., and L. Behbahani. (2013). Forced Labour's Business Models and Supply Chains. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/ default/files/jrf/migrated/files/forced-labour-business-full.pdf. p. 28.
- 32 Allain, J., Crane, A., LeBaron, G., and L. Behbahani. (2013). Forced Labour's Business Models and Supply Chains. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/ default/files/jrf/migrated/files/forced-labour-business-full.pdf. p. 28.

- 33 DHS. (2020). Combating Trafficking in Counterfeit and Pirated Goods: Report to the President of the United States. Washington D.C.: US Department of Homeland Security Office of Strategy, Policy and Plans. https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/ files/publications/20_0124_plcy_counterfeit-pirated-goods-report_01.pdf
- 34 This is also echoed in the following report: UNICRI. (2011).
 Counterfeiting: A global spread, a global threat 2011 edition.
 Turin: United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute.
- 35 May, C. (2017). *Transnational Crime and the Developing World*. Washington DC: Global Financial Integrity. www.gfintegrity. org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Transnational_Crime-final. pdf
- 36 OECD. (2009). Magnitude of Counterfeiting and Piracy of Tangible Products: An Update. Paris: OECD Publishing. www.oecd. org/sti/ind/44088872.pdf
- 37 OECD & EUIPO. (2019). Trends in Trade in Counterfeit and Pirated Goods. Paris: OECD Publishing and European Union Intellectual Property Office. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/ sites/g2g9f533-en/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/ g2g9f533-en
- 38 OECD & EUIPO. (2021). Global Trade in Fakes: A Worrying Threat. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi. org/10.1787/74c81154-en
- 39 Manduca, G. (2019). Threads of Terror, Crime & Slavery: "He Who Would Pry Behind the Scenes Oft Sees a Counterfeiter. *Journal of Law and Public Policy*, 27 (2), 453-499. https:// brooklynworks.brooklaw.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1583&context=jlp. p. 485.
- 40 UNODC. (2014). Focus on the Illicit Trafficking of Counterfeit Goods and Transnational Organized Crime. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. https://www.unodc.org/ documents/counterfeit/FocusSheet/Counterfeit_focussheet_ EN_HIRES.pdf
- 41 UNODC. (2014). Focus on the Illicit Trafficking of Counterfeit Goods and Transnational Organized Crime. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. https://www.unodc.org/ documents/counterfeit/FocusSheet/Counterfeit_focussheet_ EN_HIRES.pdf
- 42 The Office of the Intellectual Property Enforcement Coordinator & The US Interagency Strategic Planning Committees on Intellectual Property Enforcement. (2016). Supporting Innovation, Creativity & Enterprise: Charting a Path Ahead (US Joint Strategic Plan on Intellectual Property Enforcement FY 2017-2019). Washington, DC: Office of the Intellectual Property Enforcement Coordinator. Available at: https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/omb/IPEC/2016jointstrategicplan.pdf. p. 39.; UNODC. (2014). Focus on the Illicit Trafficking of Counterfeit Goods and Transnational Organized Crime. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. https://www.unodc.org/documents/counterfeit/FocusSheet/ Counterfeit_focussheet_EN_HIRES.pdf; Anti-Slavery International. (2014). Trafficking for Forced Criminal Activities and Begging in Europé: Exploratory Study and Good Practice Examples. London: Anti-Slavery International. http://www. antislavery.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/trafficking_for_ forced_criminal_activities_and_begging_in_europe.pdf

- 43 ILO. (2000). Labour practices in the footwear, leather, textiles and clothing industries. Geneva: International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/public/libdoc/ ilo/2000/100B09_189_engl.pdf. p. 79.
- 44 ILO. (2000). Labour practices in the footwear, leather, textiles and clothing industries. Geneva: International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/public/libdoc/ ilo/2000/100B09_189_engl.pdf. p. 79.
- 45 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html
- 46 Northern Ireland's Department of Justice. (2018). Customers warned of dangers of counterfeit goods [Press release]. Belfast: Northern Ireland's Department of Justice. https://www. justice-ni.gov.uk/news/customers-warned-dangers-counterfeit-goods
- 47 UNICRI. (2011). Counterfeiting: A global spread, a global threat
 2011 edition. Turin: United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute.
- 48 Kelly, E. (2008). Intellectual Property Enforcement: The Human Cost of Counterfeiting. *The Brief Magazine of the British Chamber of Commerce Thailand*, 39-42. https://www.tilleke. com/wp-content/uploads/2011/05/2008_TheBrief-BCCT_0. pdf. p. 39.
- 49 ILO. (2000). Global employment levels in textile, clothing and footwear industries holding stable as industries relocate [Press release]. Geneva: International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/ WCMS_007911/lang--en/index.htm
- 50 Agyeman-Fisher, A. (2015, November 27). Haunting Photos Show the High Cost of Cheap Nikes. *Refinery29*. https:// www.refinery29.com/en-us/2015/11/97821/tanzania-sweatshop-workers
- 51 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html
- 52 Federation of the Swiss Watch Industry. (2018). *Thinking* of buying a counterfeit product? Shame! n.p.: Federation of the Swiss Watch Industry. Accessed 16 October 2018. http:// www.fhs.swiss/eng/buy_counterfeit.html; ITV News. (2015, November 4). UK's first Fake Shop reveals danger of counterfeit goods. *ITV News*. https://www.itv.com/news/westcountry/2015-11-04/rat-droppings-in-cigarettes-and-urine-in-perfume-fake-shop-reveals-danger-of-counterfeit-goods
- 53 Timpone, A. (2017). The true price for your fake Gucci bag is life: Why eliminating unsafe labor practices is the right answer to the fashion counterfeit problem. *Cardozo Public Law, Policy and Ethics Journal*, 15(2), 351-384. pp. 351-352.; Giambarrese, N. (2010). The Look for Less: A Survey of Intellectual Property Protections in the Fashion Industry. *Touro Law Review*, 26 (1), 243-285. https://digitalcommons.tourolaw.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1202&context=lawreview
- 54 Salembier, V. (2007). Speech by Valierie Salembier, SVP/Publisher Harper's Bazaar [New York Transcript], Harper's Bazaar Anticounterfeiting Summits 2007, The Mandarin Oriental Hotel, February 1, 2007.

- 55 Phillips, T. (2005). Knockoff: The Deadly Trade in Counterfeit Goods – The True Story of the World's Fastest Growing Crime Wave. London and Philadelphia: Kogan Page. p. 18.
- 56 Shepherd, W. (2016, Mars 14). What Really Happens When You Buy Counterfeits. *MH&L*. https://www.mhlnews.com/global-supply-chain/article/22051540/what-really-happens-whenyou-buy-counterfeits
- 57 Information obtained through interviews conducted by TRACIT.
- 58 Ball, J. (2020, December 18). Workers 'sleeping on mattresses' inside Leicester factory. *BBC News*. https://www.bbc.com/ news/uk-england-leicestershire-55358031
- 59 Information obtained through interviews conducted by TRACIT.
- FEDERAL REGIONAL COURT OF THE 3rd REGION, CRIMINAL APPEAL No 0001514-80.2016.4.03.6119 / SP 2016.61.19.001514-4 / SP. Published on 01/07/2019. http://web.trf3.jus.br/acordaos/Acordao/BuscarDocumentoGedpro/7557321
- 61 Timpone, A. (2017). The true price for your fake Gucci bag is life: Why eliminating unsafe labor practices is the right answer to the fashion counterfeit problem. *Cardozo Public Law, Policy and Ethics Journal, 15(2),* 351-384. p. 357.; Fashion United. (2014, March 21). Prato Factory Deaths Highlight Chinese Takeover. *Fashion United.* https://fashionunited.uk/v1/fashion/prato-factory-deaths-highlight-chinese-takeover/2014032113263
- 62 Thomas, D. (2009, January 9). The Fight Against Fakes. *Harp-er's Bazaar*. https://www.harpersbazaar.com/culture/features/a359/the-fight-against-fakes-0109/
- 63 Thomas, D. (2009, January 9). The Fight Against Fakes. *Harp-er's Bazaar*. https://www.harpersbazaar.com/culture/features/a359/the-fight-against-fakes-0109/
- 64 Robstad, F. E. & Askjer, A. (2020, September 20). På dette bakrommet lages din falske luksus-veske [Video clip]. *TV 2*. https://www.tv2.no/a/11494616/
- 65 Keeling, N. (2017, October 13). Counterfeit goods worth £2m seized and possible victims of modern slavery rescued in raids. *Manchester Evening News*. https://www.manchesterevening-news.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/counterfeit-goods-worth-2m-seized-13758263
- 66 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html
- 67 Ball, J. (2020, December 18). Workers 'sleeping on mattresses' inside Leicester factory. BBC News. https://www.bbc.com/ news/amp/uk-england-leicestershire-55358031
- 68 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html
- 69 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html

- 70 Scheerhout, J. Fake goods worth £3m seized during raids in Strangeways. *Manchester Evening News*. https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/ fake-goods-worth-3m-seized-14052919
- 71 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html
- 72 Europol. (2011). OCTA 2011: EU Organised Crime Threat Assessment. The Hague: European Police Office. https://www. europol.europa.eu/sites/default/files/publications/octa2011. pdf. p. 36.
- 73 Crimen y Razón. (2017, January 10). Las mafias de los manteros, el trabajo esclavo y las coimas a la policía. Crimen y Razón. https://crimenyrazon.com/las-mafias-de-los-manterosel-trabajo-esclavo-y-las-coimas-a-la-policia/#.YLeDIS2HLU0
- 74 TN. (2020, August 27). Investigan a una red de trata de personas que opera con manteros senegaleses en La Plata. TN. https://tn.com.ar/sociedad/investigan-a-una-red-de-tratade-personas-que-opera-con-manteros-senegaleses-en-la-plata/2020/08/27/TMMK64C34VB5RBGPQMHNTA6TP4_story/
- 75 Perfil. (2020, September 3). Manteros senegaleses: investigan a una mujer como líder de una red de trata. *Perfil.* https:// www.perfil.com/noticias/policia/manteros-senegaleses-investigan-a-una-mujer-como-lider-red-de-trata.phtml
- 76 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html
- 77 Lusher, A. (2017, December 23). 'Counterfeit Street': The trail of misery behind the designer knock-off you are getting for Christmas. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/ news/uk/crime/fake-designer-clothes-handbags-counterfeitchristmas-gifts-slavery-drug-dealing-organised-crime-profits-a8112581.html
- 78 OECD & EUIPO. (2021). Global Trade in Fakes: A Worrying Threat. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi. org/10.1787/74c81154-en; OECD & EUIPO. (2019). Trends in Trade in Counterfeit and Pirated Goods. Paris: OECD Publishing and European Union Intellectual Property Office. https:// www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/g2g9f533-en/1/2/4/index. html?itemId=/content/publication/g2g9f533-en&_csp_=9b2e-3f5112e280d270c856c09a74753d&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book
- 79 FindHS.codes. (2021). *The statistical nomenclature of the European Union (for the year 2021): Chapter 85.* FindHS. codes. https://www.findhs.codes/CNCodes/Chapter85/elec-trical-machinery-and-equipment-and-parts-thereof-sound-recorders-and-reproducers-television-image-and-sound-recorders-and-reproducers-and-parts-an
- 80 OECD & EUIPO. (2019). Trends in Trade in Counterfeit and Pirated Goods. Paris: OECD Publishing and European Union Intellectual Property Office. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/ sites/g2g9f533-en/1/2/4/index.html?itemId=/content/ publication/g2g9f533-en&_csp_=9b2e3f5112e280d270c-856co9a74753d&itemIGO=oecd&itemContentType=book

- 81 WIPO. (2017). The Environmentally Safe Disposal and Destruction of Intellectual Property Infringing Goods. Geneva: World Intellectual Property Organization. http://www.wipo.int/edocs/mdocs/enforcement/en/wipo_ace_12/wipo_ace_12_3_ppt. pdf
- 82 OECD. (2008). *The Economic Impact of Counterfeiting and Piracy*. Paris: OECD Publishing. p. 88.
- 83 SOCA. (2006). *The UK threat assessment of organised crime* 2006/2007. n.p.: SOCA., as cited in OECD. (2008). *The Economic Impact of Counterfeiting and Piracy*. Paris: OECD Publishing.
- 84 Europol & EUIPO. (2020). *IP Crime and its Link to Other Serious Crimes: Focus on Poly-Criminality*. Alicante: European Union Intellectual Property Office. https://euipo.europa.eu/ tunnel-web/secure/webdav/guest/document_library/observatory/documents/reports/2020_IP_crime_and_its_link_to_other_serious_crimes/2020_IP_crime_and_its_link_to_other_serious_crimes_Full.pdf. p. 39.
- 85 Department of Justice US Attorney's Office Southern District of Texas. (2011). Three Sentenced to Federal Prison for Forcing Labor and Distributing Pirated/Counterfeit CDs and DVDs [Press release]. Houston: Department of Justice US Attorney's Office Southern District of Texas. https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/criminal-ccips/legacy/2012/03/15/lopezSent.pdf
- 86 Treverton, G. F. et al. (2009). *Film piracy, organized crime, and terrorism*. Santa Monica/Arlington/Pittsburgh: RAND.
- 87 OECD & EUIPO. (2020). *Trade in Counterfeit Pharmaceutical Products*. Paris: OECD and European Union Intellectual Property Office. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/a7c7e054-en/ index.html?itemId=/content/publication/a7c7e054-en
- 88 Kwame Adjei, H. & Ohene, P. (2015). Counterfeit drugs: the relentless war in Africa. *Pharmacy & Pharmacology International Journal*, 2 (2), 45-47. http://medcraveonline.com/PPIJ/PPIJ-02-00016.pdf
- 89 Lewis, K. (2009). 'The Fake and the Fatal: The Consequences of Counterfeits', *The Park Place Economist*, 17, 47-58. http://digitalcommons.iwu.edu/parkplace/vol17/iss1/14. p. 47.
- 90 Interpol. (2020). Global operation sees a rise in fake medical products related to COVID-19. Lyon: Interpol. https://www. interpol.int/en/News-and-Events/News/2020/Global-operation-sees-a-rise-in-fake-medical-products-related-to-COVID-19
- 91 Levenson, M. & Kanno-Youngs, Z. (2021, February 10). Millions of Counterfeit N95 Masks Werer Bought in 5 States, U.S. Says. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/02/10/ us/n95-mask-fraud-investigation.html
- 92 Daraghi, B. (2020, March 25). 'Total disregard for people's lives': Hundreds of thousands of fake masks flooding markets as coronavirus depletes world supplies. *The Independent*. https://www.independent.co.uk/news/health/coronavirus-face-mask-fake-turkey-medical-supply-shortage-covid-19-a9423426.html
- 93 de la Bastide, K. (2020, March 12). Anderson man charged with selling counterfeit Viagra. *The Herald Bulletin*. https://www. heraldbulletin.com/news/anderson-man-charged-with-selling-counterfeit-viagra/article_02399fd8-649c-11ea-a340-e3eafo2a4517.html

- 94 International Council on Mining and Metals. (2016). *Role* of Mining in National Economies, third edition. London: ICMM. https://www.icmm.com/website/publications/ pdfs/social-and-economic-development/161026_icmm_ romine_3rd-edition.pdf
- 95 International Council on Mining and Metals. (2016). Role of Mining in National Economies, third edition. London: ICMM. https://www.icmm.com/website/publications/ pdfs/social-and-economic-development/161026_icmm_ romine_3rd-edition.pdf
- 96 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime. (2016). Organized Crime and Illegally Mined Gold in Latin America. Geneva: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime. https://arcominero.infoamazonia. org/GIATOC-OC_Illegally-Mined-Gold-in-Latin-America-3c3f978eef80083bdd8780d7c5a21f1e.pdf. p. vi.
- 97 UNDP, WEF, CCSI, & SDSN. (2016). *Mapping Mining to the Sustainable Development Goals: An Atlas*. Cologny/Geneva: World Economic Forum. http://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/ home/librarypage/poverty-reduction/mapping-mining- to-thesdgs--an-atlas.html
- 98 Mathias, E., & Feys, B. (2016). Implementing AML/CFT Measures in the Precious Minerals Sector: Preventing Crime While Increasing Revenue. Washington, DC: IMF. https://www.imf. org/external/pubs/ft/tnm/2014/tnm1401a.pdf
- 99 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. (2015). Organized Crime: A Cross-Cutting Threat to Sustainable Development. Geneva: Global Initiative against Transnational Organized Crime. http://globalinitiative. net/wp- content/uploads/2015/01/global-initiative-organized-crime-as-a-cross-cutting-threat-to-development-january-2015.pdf
- 100 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. (2017). Case Study: Illicit Gold Mining in Peru. Geneva: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. https:// globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/tgiatoc-casestudy-peru-1878-web-lo-res.pdf. p. 1.
- 101 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. (2017). Case Study: Illicit Gold Mining in Peru. Geneva: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. https:// globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/tgiatoc-casestudy-peru-1878-web-lo-res.pdf. p. 1.
- 102 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. (2017). Case Study: Illicit Gold Mining in Peru. Geneva: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. https:// globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/tgiatoc-casestudy-peru-1878-web-lo-res.pdf. p. 2.
- 103 Verité. (2016). Risk Analysis of Indicators of Forced Labor and Human Trafficking in Illegal Gold Mining in Peru. Amherst: Verité. p. 15.
- 104 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. (2017). Case Study: Illicit Gold Mining in Peru. Geneva: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organised Crime. https:// globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/tgiatoc-casestudy-peru-1878-web-lo-res.pdf. p. 2.
- 105 Verité. (2016). Risk Analysis of Indicators of Forced Labor and Human Trafficking in Illegal Gold Mining in Peru. Amherst: Verité. p. 15.

- 106 UNODC. (2020). UNODC Supports Efforts to Combat Illicit Mining in Southern Africa. Vienna: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime. https://www.unodc.org/unodc/frontpage/2020/November/unodc-supports-efforts-to-combat-illicit-mining-in-southern-africa.html
- 107 Verité. (2016). Risk Analysis of Indicators of Forced Labor and Human Trafficking in Illegal Gold Mining in Peru. Amherst: Verité. p. 15.
- 108 Agencia Peruana de Noticias. (2011, June 28). MTPE realizó 1,136 inspecciones relacionadas con el trabajo forzoso en período enero 2007 – abril 2011. Agencia Peruana de Noticias. https://andina.pe/agencia/noticia-mtpe-realizo-1136-inspecciones-relacionadas-con-trabajo-forzoso-periodo-enero-2007-abril-2011-366182.aspx
- 109 Verité. (2016). Risk Analysis of Indicators of Forced Labor and Human Trafficking in Illegal Gold Mining in Peru. Amherst: Verité. p. 5.
- 110 Buller, A.M., Vaca, V., Stoklosa, H., Borland, R. and C. Zimmerman. (2015). Labour exploitation, trafficking and migrant health: Multi-country findings on the health risks and consequences of migrant and trafficked workers. Geneva: International Organization for Migration and London School of Hygiene and & Tropical Medicine. p. 6.
- 111 US Department of Labor's Bureau of International Labor Affairs. (2019). 2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor. Washington, DC.: US Department of Labor. https:// www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ILAB/child_labor_reports/ tda2019/2019_TDA_Report_Online_Final.pdf. p. 983.
- 112 US Department of Labor's Bureau of International Labor Affairs. (2019). 2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor. Washington, DC.: US Department of Labor. https:// www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ILAB/child_labor_reports/ tda2019/2019_TDA_Report_Online_Final.pdf. p. 988.
- 113 US Department of Labor's Bureau of International Labor Affairs. (2019). 2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor. Washington, DC.: US Department of Labor. https:// www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ILAB/child_labor_reports/ tda2019/2019_TDA_Report_Online_Final.pdf. p. 988.
- 114 US Department of Labor's Bureau of International Labor Affairs. (2019). 2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor. Washington, DC.: US Department of Labor. https:// www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ILAB/child_labor_reports/ tda2019/2019_TDA_Report_Online_Final.pdf. p. 134.; US Department of State. (2019). 2019 Trafficking in Persons Report: Angola. Washington, DC: US Department of State. https://www.state.gov/reports/2019-trafficking-in-persons-report-2/%20angola/
- 115 Irvine, J. (2017, February 21). ITV News investigates: India's shameful child labour mining for beauty industry sparkle. *ITV News*. https://www.itv.com/news/2017-02-22/itv-news-investigates-indias-shameful-child-labour-mining-for-sparkling-mica

- 116 Cavazuti, L., Romo, C., McFadden, C. & R. Schapiro, (2019, November 18). 'Zone Rouge': An Army of Children Toils in African Mica Mines. *NBC News*. https://www.nbcnews.com/ news/all/army-children-toil-african-mica-mines-n1082916; Borgia, G. (2020, January 21). "Madagascar: Le calvaire des enfants dans les mines de mica". *TV 5 Monde*. https://information.tv5monde.com/video/madagascar-le-calvaire-des-enfantsdans-les-mines-de-mica; Van der Wal, S. (2019). *Child Labour in Madagascar's Mica Sector: Impact of the mica supply chain on children's rights from the Malagasy mines to the international product line*. Terre des Hommes/SOMO. November 2019. https://www.somo.nl/child-labour-in-madagascars-mica-sector/
- 117 US Department of Labor Bureau of international Labor Affairs's Office of Child Labor, Forced Labor, and Human Trafficking. (2020). 2020 List of Goods Produced by Child Labor or Forced Labor. Washington, D.C.: US Department of Labor. p. 35; Cavazuti, L., Romo, C., McFadden, C. & R. Schapiro, (2019, November 18). 'Zone Rouge': An Army of Children Toils in African Mica Mines. NBC News. https://www.nbcnews.com/ news/all/army-children-toil-african-mica-mines-n1082916; Borgia, G. (2020, January 21). "Madagascar: Le calvaire des enfants dans les mines de mica". TV 5 Monde. https://information.tv5monde.com/video/madagascar-le-calvaire-des-enfantsdans-les-mines-de-mica; Van der Wal, S. (2019). Child Labour in Madagascar's Mica Sector: Impact of the mica supply chain on children's rights from the Malagasy mines to the international product line. Terre des Hommes/SOMO. November 2019. https://www.somo.nl/child-labour-in-madagascars-mica-sector/
- 118 May, C. (2017). Transnational Crime and the Developing World. Washington, D.C.: Global Financial Integrity. Retrieved from: http://www.gfintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/ Transnational_Crime-final.pdf
- EJF. (2012). Pirate Fishing Exposed: The Fight Against Illegal Fishing in West Africa and the EU. London: Environmental Justice Foundation. p. 7, citing Agnew et al., 'Estimating the Worldwide Extent of Illegal Fishing', Table 2. The Africa Progress Panel puts the level of catch affected in West Africa at between one third and one half. See Africa Progress Panel, Grain, Fish, Money: Financing Africa's Green and Blue Revolutions – Africa Progress Report 2014 (Geneva: Africa Progress Panel, 2014), p. 89.
- 120 The Pew Charitable Trusts. (2013). FAQ: Illegal, Unreported, and Unregulated Fishing [Fact sheet]. Philadelphia,
 Washington D.C., and London: Pew Charitable Trusts.
 https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/factsheets/2013/08/27/faq-illegal-unreported-and-unregulated-fishing; FAO. (2001). International Plan of Action to Prevent, Deter and Eliminate IUU Fishing. Rome: FAO.
- 121 UNODC. (2011). Transnational Organized Crime and the Fishing Industry: Focus on Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drug Trafficking. Vienna: United Nations. https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/Issue_Paper_-_TOC_in_the_Fishing_Industry.pdf. p. 55.
- 122 FishWise. (2016). Social Responsibility in the Global Seafood Industry: Background and Resources. Santa Cruz, CA: FishWise. https://fishwise.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Social_Responsibility_in_the_Global_Seafood_Industry-1.pdf

- 123 ILO. (2013). Caught at Sea: Forced Labour and Trafficking in Fisheries. Geneva: International Labour Organization. https:// www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---declaration/documents/publication/wcms_214472.pdf
- 124 Gangmasters & Labour Abuse Authority. (n.d.). *Shellfish Gathering Industries: Headline Trends.* n.p.: Gangmasters & Labour Abuse Authority. https://www.gla.gov.uk/media/5082/ industry-profile-shellfish-gathering.pdf; National Food Crime Unit and the Scottish Food Crime and Incidents Unit. (2020). *Food Crime: Strategic Assessment 2020.* n.p.: National Food Crime Unit and the Scottish Food Crime and Incidents Unit. https://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/media/document/ food-crime-strategic-assessment-2020.pdf
- 125 UNODC. (2011). Transnational Organized Crime and the Fishing Industry: Focus on Trafficking in Persons, Smuggling of Migrants, Illicit Drug Trafficking. Vienna: United Nations. https://www.unodc.org/documents/human-trafficking/Issue_Paper_-_TOC_in_the_Fishing_Industry.pdf. p. 25.
- 126 US Department of State. (2019). *Trafficking in Persons Report June 2019*. Washington, D.C.: US Department of State. https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/2019-Traffick-ing-in-Persons-Report.pdf. p. 458.
- 127 US Department of State. (2019). *Trafficking in Persons Report June 2019*. Washington, D.C.: US Department of State. https:// www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/2019-Trafficking-in-Persons-Report.pdf. p. 120.
- 128 US Department of State. (2019). *Trafficking in Persons Report June 2019*. Washington, D.C.: US Department of State. https:// www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/2019-Trafficking-in-Persons-Report.pdf. p. 129.
- 129 US Department of State. (2019). *Trafficking in Persons Report June 2019*. Washington, D.C.: US Department of State. https:// www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/2019-Trafficking-in-Persons-Report.pdf. p. 244.
- 130 US Customs and Border Protection. (2021). *Withhold Release Orders and Findings*. (Accessed June 22nd, 2021). US Customs and Border Protection. https://www.cbp.gov/trade/ programs-administration/forced-labor/withhold-release-orders-and-findings
- 131 US Customs and Border Protection. (2021). CBP issues Withhold Release Order on Chinese fishing fleet [Press release]. US Customs and Border Protection. https://www.cbp.gov/newsroom/national-media-release/cbp-issues-withhold-release-order-chinese-fishing-fleet
- 132 US Customs and Border Protection. (2021). CBP issues Withhold Release Order on Chinese fishing fleet [Press release]. US Customs and Border Protection. https://www.cbp.gov/newsroom/national-media-release/cbp-issues-withhold-release-order-chinese-fishing-fleet
- 133 McVeigh, K. & Firdaus, F. (2020, July 7). 'Hold on, brother': the final days of the doomed crew on the Long Xing 629. *The Guardian*. https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/ jul/07/hold-on-brother-final-days-of-doomed-crew-on-chinese-shark-finning-boat
- 134 The Phuket News. (2018, September 8). Phuket whale shark fishing boats probed for human trafficking. *The Phuket News*. https://www.thephuketnews.com/phuket-whale-shark-fishing-boats-probed-for-human-trafficking-68539.php

- 135 The Associated Press. (2017, October 30). Indonesia court upholds seizure of fishing vessel. *Business Mirror*. https://businessmirror.com.ph/2017/10/30/indonesia-court-upholds-seizure-of-fishing-vessel/
- 136 WHO. (2018). *Tobacco*. Geneva: WHO. http://www.who.int/ news-room/fact-sheets/detail/tobacco
- 137 Euromonitor International. (2018). *Illicit Trade in Tobacco Products*. London: Euromonitor International. https://www. euromonitor.com/illicit-trade-in-tobacco-products/report
- 138 OECD. (2016). *Illicit Trade: Converging Criminal Networks*. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/governance/charting-illicit-trade_9789264251847-en
- 139 The United States Department of State / Department of Justice / Department of the Treasury / Department of Homeland Security / Department of Health and Human Services. (2015). The Global Illicit Trade in Tobacco: A Threat to National Security. n.p.: A/GIS/GPS. https://2009-2017.state.gov/documents/organization/250513.pdf
- 140 The licit/illicit nature of exports depend on the local law of the country of manufacture. In some locations, such as manufacturing within free trade zones, the product only becomes 'illegal' once it crosses the border of the destination country, either through under-declaration or because the pack labelling is not compliant with local regulation.
- 141 WHO. (n.d.). Illicit Trade and Tobacco a summary of evidence and country responses [Powerpoint]. Geneva: WHO. http:// www.who.int/tobacco/economics/illicittrade.pdf
- 142 Interpol Office of Legal Affairs. (2014). *Countering illicit trade in tobacco products: a guide for policy makers*. Lyon: Interpol. https://www.interpol.int/News-and-media/Publications2/ Guides-manuals/Countering-Illicit-Trade-in-Tobacco-Products-A-guide-for-Policy-Makers-June-2014; The United States Department of State / Department of Justice / Department of the Treasury / Department of Homeland Security / Department of Health and Human Services. (2015). The Global Illicit Trade *in Tobacco: A Threat to National Security.* n.p.: A/GIS/GPS. https://2009-2017.state.gov/documents/organization/250513. pdf
- 143 Palmer, E. (2020, February 21). Police Find Workers Left to Die During Raid of Illegal Underground Cigarette Factory in Spain. *Newsweek*. https://www.newsweek.com/spain-cigarette-factory-undergorund-bunker-1488423
- 144 Reuters. (2020, February 20). Six workers found trapped in illegal underground tobacco factory in Spain. *Reuters*. https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-spain-crime-tobacco/six-workers-found-trapped-in-illegal-underground-tobacco-factory-inspain-idUSKBN20E1S1
- 145 Europol. (2020). Four metres underground: illegal cigarette factory uncovered in a bunker in Spain [Press release]. The Hague: Europol. https://www.europol.europa.eu/newsroom/ news/four-metres-underground-illegal-cigarette-factory-uncovered-in-bunker-in-spain
- 146 Europol. (2019). Illegal Tobacco Factory Dismantled in Hungary [Press release]. The Hague: Europol. https://www.europol. europa.eu/newsroom/news/illegal-tobacco-factory-dismantled-in-hungary

- 147 Europol & EUIPO. (2020). *IP Crime and its Link to Other Serious Crimes: Focus on Poly-Criminality*. Alicante: European Union Intellectual Property Office. https://euipo.europa.eu/ tunnel-web/secure/webdav/guest/document_library/observatory/documents/reports/2020_IP_crime_and_its_link_to_other_serious_crimes/2020_IP_crime_and_its_link_to_other_serious_crimes_Full.pdf. p. 38.
- 148 Diario de Burgos. (2021, March 2). Desmanteladas dos fábricas ilegales de tabaco en Valladolid. *Diario de Burgos*. https:// www.diariodeburgos.es/noticia/Z7CF07621-01F9-1F99-319AB99898C05896/202103/Desmanteladas-dos-fabricas-ilegales-de-tabaco-en-Valladolid
- 149 Agencia Tributaria. (2021). *Desmantelada una fábrica de tabaco en Andalucía con capacidad para producir un millón de cigarrillos al día*. n.p. Gobierno de España. https://www.agenciatributaria.es/AEAT.internet/Inicio/La_Agencia_Tributaria/Sala_de_prensa/Notas_de_prensa/2021/Desmantelada_una_fabrica_de_tabaco_en_Andalucia_con_capacidad_para_producir_un_millon_de_cigarrillos_al_dia.shtml
- 150 Aktar, M. W., Sengupta, D., & Chowdhury, A. (2009). Impact of pesticides use in agriculture: their benefits and hazards. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 2(1), 1–12. http://doi.org/10.2478/ V10102-009-0001-7
- 151 TechSci Research. (2018). Global Pesticides Market By Type, By Application, By Formulation (Dry & Liquid), By Region, Competition Forecast & Opportunities, 2013 – 2023. New York: TechSci Research. https://www.techsciresearch.com/report/ global- pesticides-market/1311.html
- 152 Fishel, F. M. (2015). The Global Increase in Counterfeit Pesticides. Gainesville: IFAS Extension University of Florida. http:// edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/PI/PI21000.pdf
- 153 Malkov, M., Prischepa, S., and Kutonova, T. (2015). Counteraction to Counterfeit and Contraband Pesticides: Methodology. n.p.: OSCE / ENVSEC. https://www.osce.org/secretariat/192516?download=true; Agarwal, M. and Garg, S. (2015). Study on Sub-Standard, Spurious/Counterfeit Pesticides in India 2015 - Report. n.p.: FICCI. http://ficci.in/spdocument/20641/Pestiside-Report.pdf; Europol. (2012). Europol warns of growing trade of counterfeit pesticides worth billions of euros a year. The Hague: Europol https://www.europol. europa.eu/newsroom/news/europol-warns-of-growing-tradein-counterfeit-pesticides-worth-billions-of-euros-yea
- 154 UNICRI. (2016). Illicit Pesticides, Organized Crime, and Supply Chain Integrity. Torino: UNICRI. http://www.unicri. it/in_focus/files/The_problem_of_illicit_pesticides_low_res1. pdf; Agarwal, M. and Garg, S. (2015). Study on Sub-Standard, Spurious/ Counterfeit Pesticides in India 2015 – Report. n.p.: FICCI. http://ficci.in/spdocument/20641/Pestiside-Report.pdf
- 155 Malkov, M., Prischepa, S., and Kutonova, T. (2015). Counteraction to Counterfeit and Contraband Pesticides: Methodology.
 n.p.: OSCE / ENVSEC. https://www.osce.org/secretariat/192516?download=true; UNICRI. (2016). Illicit Pesticides, Organized Crime, and Supply Chain Integrity. Torino: UNICRI. http://www.unicri.it/in_focus/files/The_problem_of_illicit_pesticides_low_res1.pdf; Fishel, F. M. (2015). The Global Increase in Counterfeit Pesticides. Gainesville: IFAS Extension University of Florida. http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/pdffiles/PI/PI21000.pdf

- 156 Europol. (2012). Europol warns of growing trade of counterfeit pesticides worth billions of euros a year. The Hague: Europol. https://www.europol.europa.eu/newsroom/news/europolwarns-of-growing-trade-in-counterfeit-pesticides-worth-billions-of-euros-yea
- 157 Marras, F. (2019, April 19). Caporalato, arrestate 7 persone tra Terracina e la provincia di Venezia. *Help Consumatori*. https://www.helpconsumatori.it/secondo-piano/caporalato-arrestate-7-persone-tra-terracina-e-la-provincia-di-venezia/
- 158 Haber Turk. (2021, February 4). Kocaeli ´nde 20 milyon lira değerinde sahte tarım ilacı ele geçirildi. Haber Turk. https:// www.haberturk.com/kocaelinde-20-milyon-lira-degerindesahte-tarim-ilaci-ele-gecirildi-2962197; Enson Haber. (2021, February 5). Kocaeli'de jandarma, sahte tarım ilacı imalathanesine baskın yaptı. Enson Haber. https://www.ensonhaber. com/3-sayfa/kocaelide-jandarma-sahte-tarim-ilaci-imalathanesine-baskin-yapti
- 159 Rosa, R. (2019, November 18). Lavoro e Veleni. *Tv7*. https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=ORuSY8JdMKs
- 160 Rosa, R. (2019, November 18). Lavoro e Veleni. Tv7. https:// www.youtube.com/watch?v=ORuSY8JdMKs
- 161 Kleinschmit, D., Mansourian, S., Wildburger, C., and Purret, A. (2016). *Illegal Logging and Related Timber Trade - Dimensions, Drivers, Impacts and Responses* [IUFRO World Series Volume 35]. Vienna: International Union of Forest Research Organizations. Retrieved from: https://www.iufro.org/download/ file/25744/6360/ws35-low-res_pdf/
- 162 May, C. (2017). Transnational Crime and the Developing World. Washington, DC: Global Financial Integrity. Retrieved from: http://www.gfintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/ Transnational_Crime-final.pdf
- 163 US Department of State. (2019). *Trafficking in Persons Report, June 2019.* Washington, DC: US Department of State. pp. 171 and 190.
- 164 US Department of Labor. (2020). Sweat & Toil: 2020 List of Goods Produced by Child Labor or Forced Labor, 2019 Findings on the Worst Forms of Child Labor. Washington, DC: US Department of Labor. https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/ ILAB/child_labor_reports/tda2019/2019_Sweat_And_Toil_ Magazine.pdf

- 165 Global Slavery Index. (2016). *Global Slavery Index 2016*. Nedlands: Walk Free Foundation. p. 16. See also, Bales, K. (2016). Blood and Earth: Modern Slavery, Ecocide, and the Secret to Saving the World. New York: Speigel and Grau/Random House.
- 166 Lazzeri, T. (2017, March 13). Investigation reveals slave labor conditions in Brazil's timber industry. *Mongabay*. https://news. mongabay.com/2017/03/investigation-reveals-slave-labor-conditions-in-brazils-timber-industry/
- 167 Baumann, G. (2017, March 28). *Timber Industry Loots Brazilian Amazon Using Slave Labour*. London/Brooklyn: The Freedom Fund. https://freedomfund.org/blog/timber-industry-loots-brazilian-amazon-using-slave-labour/
- 168 World Rainforest Movement. (2005, October 12). Peru: Illegal logging – a source of forced labour in the Amazon. Bulletin 99. https://wrm.org.uy/articles-from-the-wrm-bulletin/section1/ peru-illegal-logging-a-source-of-forced-labour-in-the-amazon/
- 169 Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime. (2020). People and forests at risk: Organized crime, trafficking in persons and deforestation in Chihuahua, Mexico. Geneva: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime. https://globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ Mexican.Illegal.Logging.22.04.v1.final_.pdf
- 170 Timpone, A. (2017). The true price for your fake Gucci bag is life: Why eliminating unsafe labor practices is the right answer to the fashion counterfeit problem. *Cardozo Public Law, Policy and Ethics Journal, 15(2),* 351-384. p. 378.
- 171 OECD. (2017). Global Trade without Corruption: Fighting the Hidden Tariff. Paris: OECD Publishing. p. 34.
- 172 The White House. (2013, July 01). *Executive Order Combating Wildlife Trafficking [Executive Order]*. Retrieved from: https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/2013/07/01/executive-order-combating-wildlife-trafficking
- 173 115th Congress, 1st Session, Senate. (2017, July 10). National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2018: Report. Retrieved from: https://www.congress.gov/115/crpt/srpt125/CRPT-115srpt125.pdf



Transnational Alliance to Combat Illicit Trade 209 W 29th Street, New York, NY | +1.917.815.2824 email: info@TRACIT.org | TRACIT.org